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14

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:37 a.m.

15

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

16

Ms. Lea.

17

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


18

MS. LEA:
Thank you, sir. I have a couple of administrative matters to take care of. First, I neglected to assign an undertaking number yesterday to the undertaking that Mr. Camfield gave yourself, Mr. Chair, at the end of the day. That was to fill in the blanks in section 14.1 of the handbook.

19

MR. KAISER:
Yes.

20

MS. LEA:
That undertaking is E.6.3. And the reporters have been very kind in inserting that undertaking in the transcript as if I had given it a number. I appreciate that very much.

21

Secondly, there are some scheduling issues. I confirmed on the record yesterday that the 31st remained a day without hearing. On February 1st, I understand that the Board has some obligations for the latter part of the afternoon, so the plan is for February 1st to begin the hearing at 9:00 a.m., to begin the hearing on February 1st at 9:00 a.m. and to conclude the hearing at 2:00 p.m. on that day. And I understand the plan is that rather than take a lunch, we would take an extended morning break at about 11:00 or so of about half an hour in length, and by that means we're going to try and fit as much as we can in that day. Am I correct in that, sir?

22

MR. KAISER:
Yes.

23

MS. LEA:
Thank you very much. Those are the administrative matters I had.

24

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Rogers.

25

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you, sir. I have with me Dr. Mark Lowry and I ask that he be sworn, please.

26

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS PANEL 2 ‑ LOWRY:


27

M.LOWRY; Sworn.

28

EXAMINATION BY MR. ROGERS:

29

MR. ROGERS:
Mr. Kaiser and Members of the Board, I have given to Ms. Lea copies of Dr. Lowry's curriculum vitae, and I wonder if we could give an exhibit number to that CV, and then I'll lead Dr. Lowry through it.

30

MS. LEA:
D.7.1.

31

EXHIBIT NO. D.7.1:
CV OF DR. MARK LOWRY

32

MR. ROGERS:
Dr. Lowry, I'd like to review briefly with you the contents of your curriculum vitae, which is set out in more detail in the exhibit itself, but I understand, sir, that you hold a PhD in agricultural and resource economics from the University of Wisconsin.

33

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, I do.

34

MR. ROGERS:
And I notice from your curriculum vitae that earlier in your career, you worked in the academic world and were a professor at, I think, Pennsylvania University.

35

DR. LOWRY:
I was a professor of applied economics at Pen State, Pennsylvania State University, and I also spent a summer as a visiting professor at HEC in Montreal.

36

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you. You are presently a partner in the consulting firm at Pacific Economics Group in Madison, Wisconsin.

37

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, I am the managing partner in that office.

38

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Rogers, could the witness please speak into the microphone.

39

MR. ROGERS:
Just pull yourself up to the table there, Dr. Lowry, if you would.

40

Tell us a bit about Pacific Economics Group, if you would.

41

DR. LOWRY:
Pacific Economics Group is a consulting firm that has its home offices in Pasadena. It also has an office in Madison, Wisconsin. Two of our five partners are professors at respected US universities, one at Caltech and the other at Southern Cal. And our Madison office is generally regarded as the leading practitioner of performance‑based rate making and statistical benchmarking.

42

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you. You, yourself, left academia early your in your career and have been engaged in consulting for many years.

43

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, some 15 years I've been in the consulting business.

44

MR. ROGERS:
Now, your curriculum vitae sets out page after page of assignment that you've worked on, Dr. Lowry, but I wonder if you could just provide a summary of your experience in the field of statistical benchmarking for the Board.

45

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, I've been active in the area of statistical benchmarking for about 15 years now; I'm on my 15th year. And I tallied it up the other day and I personally have supervised over 30 benchmarking projects, and other members of my company, in particular Larry Kaufman who has been doing some work for the Board on the Natural Gas Forum, has also done a number of other ones.

46

MR. ROGERS:
And have you testified on benchmarking issues before other tribunals?

47

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, the very first time I testified on benchmarking was in 1991, and all told I think I have testified for some 15 to 20 clients on this topic.

48

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you. And can you tell us, now, has your experience being restricted to the United States or have you been involved in your work in benchmarking elsewhere?

49

DR. LOWRY:
No, it's an international practice. We're drawn to other parts of the world for the same reason that the Board here is interested. Sometimes a regulatory commission has a big surge in their regulatory responsibilities and they're looking for a way to responsibly economize on the effort level, and so benchmarking has come into play in a number of jurisdictions from Australia to New Zealand to England. The Board might be particularly interested to know that I have been very much involved in the most recent benchmarking inquiry of OFGEM in England, and I will probably have some comments about that later on.

50

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you. Now Dr. Lowry, finally can you confirm for me today that the information contained in your curriculum vitae marked as Exhibit D.7.1 is an accurate summary of your experience in the area.

51

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

52

MR. ROGERS:
Mr. Chairman, might Dr. Lowry be accepted as an expert witness to give expert opinion testimony on topics involving comparator and cohort, and benchmarking of LDCs, and general rate‑making principles.

53

MR. KAISER:
Yes, the Board accepts Dr. Lowry on that basis.

54

MR. ROGERS:
Dr. Lowry, I believe that you were the principal author of a report, we will call it, called, "Comparator and Cohort Benchmarking of LDC Costs," which has been marked as Exhibit B.10 in this proceeding.

55

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

56

MR. ROGERS:
And you prepared this report either yourself or it was prepared under your direction and supervision.

57

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

58

MR. ROGERS:
And do you accept it as representing your opinions on the topics before the Board?

59

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, there are two or three modest important changes I might make. Is this the time to do that?

60

MR. ROGERS:
Yes, it is.

61

DR. LOWRY:
It's hard to write something this long without a few little mistakes, and I won't mention a couple of typos that are clearly non‑substantive. But the following are things that might have caused someone a bit of confusion.

62

On page 18, bottom of the last paragraph on the page, it says: "A unit cost index is the ratio of a cost index to an output quantity, and it is used to make ‑‑"

63

MR. ROGERS:
I'm sorry, Dr. Lowry, you'll have to slow down. The reporter has to take this down.

64

DR. LOWRY:
Sure. "A unit cost index is the ratio of a cost index to an output quantity index," but what it says is it is used to make productivity comparisons, when in fact it's used to make unit‑cost comparisons.

65

Then secondly, at the bottom of page 38, the first sentence starts off: "Our discussion of statistical clustering analysis above ..." And what I meant to actually say was, "The identification of the anomalies below ..."

66

MR. ROGERS:
That is a bit of a change, isn't it?

67

MS. LEA:
Sorry, I don't understand.

68

DR. LOWRY:
I was making a reference to another part of my paper and I got that reference wrong. So instead of saying: "Our discussion of statistical clustering analysis above," I meant to say: "Our discussion of the identification of anomalies below."

69

And then this is not too important, but I should mention it as well, that on page 47, that big, complicated equation at the bottom, in the second line of it, it says minus R and I meant to say plus R.

70

MR. ROGERS:
I wish you had told me that before, Dr. Lowry.

71

DR. LOWRY:
Back to the drawing board.

72

MR. KAISER:
We sat up all night trying to calculate that.

73

MR. ROGERS:
Is there anything else, sir?

74

DR. LOWRY:
No.

75

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you.

76

Now Dr. Lowry, your report does contain in considerable detail your opinions, but I gather you were asked by my client to review the report that had been filed by Mr. Camfield in this case, and to provide your views and comments about his work, and, in general, about the topic of comparator and cohort benchmarking as it might apply in this particular circumstance.

77

DR. LOWRY:
That's right.

78

MR. ROGERS:
I don't want to spend a great deal of time with this, but I would like you to help us understand your report by summarizing some of the main features of it.

79

First of all, just based on your experience which you've told us about, which is international, do you have any overall advice for us as we examine this technique?

80

DR. LOWRY:
Yes. I think that the Board has an understandable interest in using benchmarking in this application, because of the very large expansion in their regulatory responsibility that comes with trying to set rates for some 90 LDCs.

81

This is an approach to regulation that is used by regulators in some parts of the world, in particular, in Europe and in Latin America. It is to be noted, however, that this would probably be the first real application of benchmarking by a regulator in North America, and, also, it's relatively rare in Australia. So it's necessary to be cautious about this, but I think it's probably, on balance, worth your while to try something. But it has to be introduced with considerable care.

82

As my report points out, regulators, like utilities, are expected to have judgments that meet certain quality standards. And, if a utility was trying to decide on a new technology for, say, power distribution, they would have to think not only of how much money it would save them, but how it would affect the SAIDIs and the SAIFIs, and the other measures of the their quality. And I think the same thing applies here.

83

There is a possibility that a sloppy benchmarking method can lead to unfair and incorrect assessments of operating performance. And, in addition to the concern about unfairness, there can be a material increase in the operating risk of companies as a result of the application of benchmarking.

84

MR. ROGERS:
How would that be? How would that come about, Dr. Lowry?

85

DR. LOWRY:
When the financial community sees that companies are subject to the risk of unfair cost disallowances, naturally, it can be of concern. And it would be a particularly large concern for ‑‑ in an application to the old capital cost. Imagine, for example, that, you know, investments that Toronto Hydro might make today could be subject to the decisions or the ‑‑ the decisions of some zealous benchmarker 30 years from now. That plainly does put the company at some risk.

86

MR. ROGERS:
I see. All right, thank you.

87

Tell me, what can you tell us about the use of these methods in Britain? And ‑‑

88

DR. LOWRY:
Well ‑‑

89

MR. ROGERS:
‑‑ in terms of ‑‑ I'm thinking in terms, here, of my discussion with Mr. Camfield about the experimental nature of these techniques. What's your experience in Britain, for example?

90

DR. LOWRY:
I think that the British experiment with benchmarking has been disappointing, surprisingly so. The very first time they did it, it was a very bad benchmarking study, and they had, then, five years to do a better benchmarking study. And lo and behold, at the end of that period, they came up with something that was just as bad as the first one.

91

Mr. Adams makes reference to some work that was done by a British consulting group for OFGEM, but in reality, OFGEM didn't even hire that company to finish the job. They did it themselves, and they did it in a very simplistic way. They had a sample, to do their work, of 14 observations, and yet they had five years to come up with a better way of doing things. So it can ‑‑ it certainly can go bad.

92

And regulators ‑‑ there are regulators out there that have been unhappy with their experience with it, unlike, say, PBR itself, where regulators, once they start down that path, they seem to get ‑‑ be plenty enthusiastic about it.

93

When it comes to benchmarking, sometimes they are not so happy. In Australia, for example, in both the states of Victoria and New South Wales, where, respectively, Melbourne and Sydney are located, they experimented with two different respects of benchmarking. It raised a lot of complications and controversy, and, at the end of it all, they basically didn't use the results in the rate‑making process. And, five years later, when they had a chance to use benchmarking again, they did not do so.

94

I might, finally, just want to remind the Board that there are other mechanisms available to get good results for customers, including just the strong incentive powers of a multi‑year plan. And, as the technology for PBRs unfolded, there are innovations in the rate updates that give further strength to performance incentives. And so you can really get some very good results in the long term, just from that process.

95

So, for example, in Victoria, where they had used benchmarking some five years ago and were disappointed with the results, this time around, they decided that, since the companies had been under regulation of ‑‑ under PBR for some 14 years, that they would simply trust in the good incentive properties of the system; not even to carefully scrutinize their operating costs, and, instead, just focus on the best rate‑of‑change adjustment for a multi‑year plan.

96

MR. ROGERS:
This is in Australia?

97

DR. LOWRY:
This is in the Melbourne state of Victoria.

98

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you.

99

Now, in your evidence, you outline in some detail an explanation of some basic concepts used in benchmarking. But I wonder if you could just highlight the key ones for us now.

100

DR. LOWRY:
Well, certainly, a very important part of benchmarking is to have a proper theoretical framework for understanding what all the causes of costs are that can cause the cost of utilities to differ. And economic theory is very helpful in this regard, and one thing it says is that output is a multi‑dimensional phenomenon, or can be. And we certainly find that to be true with power distribution.

101

And, in particular, you might think, intuitively, that the number of customers, for example, is the most important driver of costs. But research that we've done all over the world shows that other dimensions of output, such as the extensiveness of a system, are very important. And that's ‑‑ that turns out to be true at every level. It's not just in power distribution, where, say, ruralness means far higher operating costs; it's even true with customer‑service expenses, and it's even true with administrative and general expenses.

102

MR. ROGERS:
All right.

103

DR. LOWRY:
Secondly, theory says that lots of other types of business conditions can affect operating costs. And then it's just a matter of empirical research to go in and identify what they are.

104

Thirdly, and very interestingly ‑‑

105

MR. ROGERS:
Just to stop you there. Just on number 2, on business conditions, what kind of business conditions might impact?

106

DR. LOWRY:
Well, an example would be the extent of ‑‑ I'll talk more about this later, but the extent of undergrounding of a system would be an example of another very material business condition.

107

MR. ROGERS:
All right. Thank you.

108

DR. LOWRY:
Then, the other thing from the cost‑drivers discussion that really can't be emphasized enough is, when you start doing partial‑cost analysis, such as Mr. Camfield proposes, they really have to be very mindful of the other inputs that the other company is using. You can't look at labour costs, for example, and make a responsible judgment as to whether that's a good level of expenditure, unless you look at their other operating expenses, because it might be, for example, that a company that has a lot of labour costs isn't doing a lot of outsourcing.

109

Similarly, when you just look at OpEx, operating expenses, how much capital they're using is extremely material. And so you simply cannot come to a fair judgment on these partial measures without considering what else the company is doing.

110

MR. ROGERS:
All right.

111

How about econometrics, now? Is that useful in this process?

112

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I agree with Mr. Camfield that econometrics is the right way to go to develop proper cohorts, because you want to try to get companies with similar business conditions. And I simply urge, in the paper, that the best possible model be developed. With the kinds of data that you have in a place, like the Ontario power distribution industry, any of several variables thrown into a cos function is going to get a very high R2. And it's a matter of really trying hard to identify ‑‑ to develop with the data that you have available, as rich a model as possible.

113

MR. ROGERS:
All right. Thank you.

114

Now, can we come to this ‑‑ just this issue about capital cost benchmarking that I discussed yesterday with Mr. Camfield. Can you give us your view about that.

115

DR. LOWRY:
Well, this is a controversial issue, and I sympathize with the desire to benchmark capital but it needs ‑‑ I think the Board really needs to go into this one with their eyes open as to what they're getting into. It's a very complicated business that involves, what I might call, alien concepts of how capital costs should be measured.

116

When I was talking a moment ago about how I had the wrong sign in that formula, well, that's the very formula that the Ontario Energy Board is heading towards using in assessing the capital costs of these companies. It's something that virtually no one in the province has ever had any dealings with, and to be honest with you, it's a big part of the reason why PBR isn't more widely used in the United States. That when you show ‑‑ Mr. Camfield mentioned yesterday that this is the approach to capital costing that's used in productivity measurement, and it is, and that's one of the big reasons that productivity measurement is used almost nowhere in the United States in energy regulation.

117

Another problem with it is that you're going to have to ‑‑ to do it accurately, it's generally considered that you have to go back many years in developing the proper estimate of the size of the capital stock. As I understand Mr. Camfield's proposal, he's not even proposing to go back ‑‑ well, he has not yet specifically proposed to go back many years at all. And what you're basically talk being is getting all the planned addition data back to some benchmark year, and in our work for power distribution utilities in the United States, we go back to 1964. And I have a very hard time imagining, with all the mergers that have been done, and the fact that so many of these LDCs might not have kept the right kinds of records over years, being previously co‑ops or municipal organizations or something like that, it would be very hard to do.

118

Then to add further to the problem is the fact that even after you've done all that work, you're still not there yet, because there's still going to be an issue of the pattern of investment over the years that got you to where you are today. A slow growing utility, for example, will typically have a lower capital cost because the investments that they made occurred so many different years ago. And even after you've made this adjustment that Mr. Camfield is proposing, you still have that problem. And I'm sorry to say I have just found this to my, I don't want to say dismay, but I've had increasing concern about this over the years. Because I have done capital cost benchmarking for over a decade, and the more I see of it, the more I realize that you really need to go back to the drawing boards and upgrade this technology before I'm going to be happy doing it again.

119

So we're talking about very experimental adjustments that, really, there's almost no precedent for. The literature that exists on power distribution benchmarking, for example, says very, very little about capital costs, because in most parts of the world there is no good capital cost data available. So you're really in an area of the frontier of the methodology to do a responsible job on that.

120

MR. ROGERS:
Well, I mean, what do you say then about the use of statistical benchmarking for OpEx only?

121

DR. LOWRY:
Well, that is ‑‑ you have a better chance of doing accurately, but remembering that, as I was saying before, that when you're into a partial cost category like OpEx you must consider the amount of capital they're using. So it's not like capital is ignored or that some effort shouldn't be made to some up with some measures of what they're doing on the capital side, because you're going to want to put into the equation into those cost models, some measures of what they're doing on the capital, some measures of system age.

122

MR. ROGERS:
This is because capital is substituted for operating expense sometimes.

123

DR. LOWRY:
That's right.

124

MR. ROGERS:
Can it be done? Can you make these adjustments, as you propose, where you are concentrating on the operating expenses, if I understand you, but nevertheless you're taking some recognition of the fact that there's substitutability between capital and operating expenses.

125

DR. LOWRY:
Even there you're getting, kind of, experimental, but I think better prospects of some useful results. As Mr. Camfield showed, he had three OpEx‑type equations in his report. In one of those equations, although not the other two, he put in some sort of capital proxy variables. And although I wouldn't have used those, and he probably wouldn't have in the end either if he had kept working at it, they did at least come in with plausible signs and suggested that they were important cost drivers.

126

MR. ROGERS:
All right. Thank you. Are there more comprehensive indexes available?

127

DR. LOWRY:
Well, yes. That gets into the area of the cost indicators. It's a little confusing in Mr. Camfield's report whether they are called comparators or cost indicators. When I reread the part again, I realized that cost indicators is probably the better word for all of these partial measures that you have once you're looking at a cohort and ‑‑

128

MR. ROGERS:
Dr. Lowry, could I just ask you ask to take a deep breath once in a while and slow down for the reporter. Thank you.

129

DR. LOWRY:
Yeah. Mr. Camfield has proposed a number of partial measures to be looked at once you've got a cohort together like labour cost, labour ‑‑ labour employees per number of customers, or unit cost where it's cost per kilowatt hours, something like that. And there really is ‑‑ he really did not provide a theory or criteria for choosing those, and I see a risk there that unless it's understood what they're for, and what would be a good indicator, that they could cause more confusion than clarification. And in my discussion of these index‑based benchmarking, I said that there is a lot of machinery there that could upgrade that section.

130

For example, to have dollars per line mile versus dollars per customer, very often you're going to get very different results from those measures if you're, say, looking at rural utilities. A rural utility is going to look pretty bad on the dollars‑per‑customer basis, it's going to look really good on a dollars‑per‑line‑mile basis. And if you just have those two measures there, you really don't know what to make of the trade off, but if you could combine those two, you'd have a useful measure. And that's why I talk about using a unit cost or productivity indexes that have these multiple category output indexes that can integrate consideration of the line miles and the customers in the same measure.

131

Similarly, if you're just looking at labour costs per customer, something like that, or ‑‑ you run this risk of a partial measure and the risk that you're going to draw the wrong conclusion because you're looking at a partial measure. If you go to something called a multifactor productivity indexes that may encompass, for example, both the labour cost and the other operating expenses, then you have a better chance to recon whether the company has struck the right balance between the two and overall is a good cost performer.

132

MR. ROGERS:
All right. Thank you. Now, I know in your report you have provided an executive summary where you summarize the points that you make, and I'd just like to go through some of these relatively briefly.

133

DR. LOWRY:
Okay.

134

MR. ROGERS:
The first is ‑‑ or one of the topics that you deal with there is the basic concepts used in benchmarking. I wonder if you could just highlight for us some of the points you make there.

135

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I think that's actually what we were just talking about, Mr. Rogers.

136

MR. ROGERS:
That's been done. All right.

137

You have a heading in your executive summary on power distribution business. Is there anything that you can tell us about that, in summary form.

138

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, part of it I've already alluded to that the importance of this system extensiveness, you might say ruralness, to try and capture that and looking at that not only with the power distribution but also the customer care, and even the A&G. With regard to other variables, Mr. Camfield has done a pretty good job of capturing those. I might just throw in a few of my own experiences with that. We have found with our research that weather severity is something that's important, that the colder the weather, generally speaking, the higher the operating costs. Perhaps Mr. Camfield's north‑south variable would capture that.

139

System age variables, such as Mr. Camfield used experimentally, we have found that they do, in fact, matter in OpEx research. And I'd also say that service quality is something that has been kicked around a bit in this discussion. We find that with good data on service quality, that very often that is a statistically significant cost driver, and I would encourage that the data that's available on that here in the province be used in the benchmarking. And I when I say that, I don't mean just the reliability measures, it's worth looking at the various measures of customer‑service quality, because there are considerable variations in the quality of those services.

140

One other thing I might want to mention in this regard is, don't forget what was talked about in the transmission benchmarking proceeding, when we were talking about how you come to grips with the reasonableness of the transition costs ‑‑ the transition to competition, because there are, actually, a lot of differences in the services that the utilities are up and running on, in terms of the transition.

141

For example, some of the little companies could seem to have seductively low customer‑service costs per customer, but they're not providing, say, the electronic‑transactions capabilities that an outfit like Hydro One or Toronto Hydro has paid good money to set up, in anticipation of retail competition.

142

MR. ROGERS:
Yes, all right. Thank you very much.

143

Now, I'd like to come to Mr. Camfield's report. And I know you talk about it in considerable detail in your report, but can you help us ‑‑ just give us an overview of your impression of the topic of cost‑performance variables, as he employs them.

144

DR. LOWRY:
Well, here ‑‑ I've already said something about ‑‑ since he has proposed a partial approach ‑‑ and, in a sense, I've advocated the same, because, given the poor state of capital‑cost data in Ontario, it may be the only thing that you can do well.

145

You do have to be very mindful of the fact that, when you're looking at these partial categories, there are opportunities for substitution with other types of inputs. And then there's also the problem of common‑cost allocation. Sometimes there are certain costs that are common, let's say, to the provision of metering and billing services, and call‑centre‑type services, certain software, for example, that there ‑‑ any allocation of those is going to be arbitrary. And some utility might decide to park most of that in, say, billing services, and then stick out as a bad performer. But, in reality, they ‑‑ they're low on the other side, the call‑centre side, because of that. So you really have to be very concerned about that. And I just, one way or the other, have to factor that in.

146

I've recommended, as I've alluded to here, the use of these so‑called "restricted cost functions" where you ‑‑ all that means is that, when Mr. Camfield, or whoever is your consultant, is coming up with these cost models, that you put some variable into the model that talks about the other inputs that the company is using.

147

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you. We've talked about capital cost, your views as to the problems in trying to do that. Could you tell me a little bit ‑‑ or summarize for us your impressions of the econometric work that Mr. Camfield proposes?

148

DR. LOWRY:
Well, again, I caution that ‑‑ don't stop working when you've come up with a model that has a high explanatory power, because what you're dealing with here is a lot of "multicollinearity," as they call it, amongst the variables, particularly amongst the output‑related variables. They're all going upward. They all ‑‑ for a large company, they tend to have large values.

149

MR. ROGERS:
Everybody in the room knows what multicollinearity means except me. Would you mind explaining it to me?

150

DR. LOWRY:
No, a lot of people don't. It just means ‑‑ as I was saying, let's say you have a variable that, for a large company, it tends to have large value; for small companies, it tends to have a small value. And what that means is that there is a correlation, statistically, between the variables that can be demonstrated. And so what happens then is that, if cost is a function of about six variables that are all, kind of, related, if you throw any one of those variables into the model, presto change‑o, you have 60 percent or more R2. And so the important thing is to try to get the true output specification and the true impact of all of the extra explanatory variables.

151

And something I haven't mentioned either is just non‑linearities. With the models that Mr. Camfield looked at initially, there was very little attention to the fact that relationships could be non‑linear, in other words, that ruralness can matter. But when it's really rural, down to two or three customers per square kilometer, it can matter even more. You may often want to spend some of the available explanatory power trying to enrich that part of the model as well.

152

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you. Is there anything else you'd like to say about ‑‑

153

DR. LOWRY:
No.

154

MR. ROGERS:
‑‑ the econometric work?

155

Can we talk, just briefly, about statistical clustering analysis?

156

DR. LOWRY:
Well, Mr. Camfield has really already agreed to this point, but I'll just make mention briefly that the idea of statistical clustering analysis is a good one, but there are a lot of statistics that are going to come out of an analysis like that that, I think, the utilities have a right to know.

157

For example, if you get yourself five clusters, the statistical clustering analysis is going to tell you the degree of similarity of the business conditions within each of those clusters. And it could be that it's pretty good for some, not very good at all for others. And the utilities should, you know, have a right to know that statistic.

158

Similarly, for any individual company that finds itself in a cohort, you can get a statistic: How similar are their business conditions, the measured business conditions, to those of the other companies in the cohort? Here, again, they have a right to know that.

159

MR. ROGERS:
All right. Thank you.

160

One of the issues here that concerns people is the selection of comparators. Can you comment on Mr. Camfield's approach to this issue?

161

DR. LOWRY:
I think I've really already addressed that previously, that this is just an area where things that have been advanced so far have ‑‑ probably need some refining. And ‑‑ or, if you're going to use a measure that's so highly, highly partial as, say, the employees per customer, that you know full well that it's only, kind of, to give you some insight as to how this all works, and it's in no sense, by itself, and indication of operating efficiency.

162

MR. ROGERS:
Dr. Lowry, your report, of course, was written on the basis of Mr. Camfield's report. And you hadn't had the opportunity to hear what he had to say yesterday about it. So some of the issues in your report, I think, have been covered off by the testimony yesterday.

163

DR. LOWRY:
Yes. Well, I think Mr. Camfield was under a time constraint in getting out what he did. And he has been very reasonable in acknowledging that it would be possible to do things better in the future, and I'm sure he had every intention of it.

164

MR. ROGERS:
All right, fine.

165

What about the identification of anomalies?

166

DR. LOWRY:
Well, that's where you get down to deciding, have we really found evidence of anomalous behaviour that would warrant further inquiry by the Board? And I think it's good to set some rules for that.

167

And, in particular, I've talked about using some sort of statistical tests of efficiency hypotheses where ‑‑ basically, that means you can take the benchmarking results, using almost any method, and use it to test the following hypothesis: Can we reject the hypothesis that this is a normal or above‑normal cost performer? And then, if that hypothesis is rejected, then there is a candidate for further inquiry. And the nice thing about that type of a test is that it will take account of the uncertainties and the imperfections of the benchmarking process. And so that adds, I think, a just and reasonable element to the whole procedure.

168

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you.

169

Dr. Lowry, you started off, I think, this morning by saying that you thought that the Board's interest in this topic was appropriate. How do you see the Board and its Staff ‑‑ or this process using the results of the work that we've been talking about?

170

DR. LOWRY:
Well, there's been a lot of talk here about using this as a screening tool, and I think that that could well be appropriate under these circumstances. This is an experimental method, and it shouldn't be assumed, as we sit here today, that, as it's finally done, it's done well. It may not be, even though we have the best of intentions. And so it probably is best to use it as a screening tool.

171

But that's kind of a sensitive word. What do you mean by "a screening tool"? Because one definition of a screening tool is that you will decide who to do ‑‑ which companies should be subject to a detailed ‑‑ a more detailed, prudence‑like review. And then, again, it could be used to not only do that, but to throw the benchmarking result in as evidence of impropriety. And that's really not using it as a screening tool.

172

So I think that, my own opinion, it could well be best to really use it as a screening tool and not ‑‑ and then proceed with a more traditional prudence review.

173

MR. ROGERS:
Is it likely, based on your, obviously, quite extensive experience, that we will be able to develop this, if we ‑‑ if the Board decides to go ahead with it, that it will be possible to develop the technique with sufficient accuracy that it can be used for anything other than screening for 2006?

174

DR. LOWRY:
I just don't have confidence about that at this point, and so I ‑‑ that's why I would recommend just using it, this time around, as a screening tool and gain some experience with it.

175

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you very much. Now, finally, I'd like to ask you just to talk a little bit about Mr. Camfield's conclusions. And you set out some points in your report that I reviewed with him yesterday, I think maybe most of which he accepts as reasonable suggestions, but can you just summarize your feelings about that for us, please.

176

DR. LOWRY:
Well, as I said at the beginning, I could see that unless a mid‑course correction is made here, that the Board could end up with a welter of statistical results that almost cause more confusion than they do clarification, and so a mid‑course correction now is desirable. And if the Board is deciding whether to go ahead with this, it might well want to provide some guidance as to how we go forward. So I have proposed a few major areas where I thought some commitment might be appropriate now as to whether ‑‑ how it's going to be done before they go forward.

177

One was, I would recommend excluding capital cost. If capital cost is played around with, it might be consigned to a different treatment, where it's simply an experimental statistic. Case in point, sometimes utilities will go under PBR and a regulatory commission will have no experience with service quality, rewards and penalties, and so for the first five years they simply collect the data, report it, but don't do anything with it. And so if you're going to do anything with capital cost benchmarking, I would recommend that treatment.

178

MR. ROGERS:
All right.

179

DR. LOWRY:
Secondly, I would ‑‑ I've mentioned consolidating the customer care category. Mr. Camfield seems to agree with that. It's just too hard to carve up that and it's just too partial a measure, and so don't try to break up the customer care into, say, customer account‑type services and call centre‑type services.

180

Be very mindful of substitution and cost allocation challenges. For example, if you're going to do OpEx benchmarking, you do have to have these capital cost variables in the model, at a minimum. And by the way, I will come back to talk about this later, but Mr. Camfield has proposed going back 10 years to get the type of operating data that might provide some of those statistics. I don't think that's far enough back to be as useful as it should be.

181

I mentioned the full disclosure of results of the statistical clustering, more thought to the cost indicators, and finally the statistical tests of efficiency hypotheses.

182

MR. ROGERS:
All right. Thank you.

183

Are there any other comments that you would like to make as a summary of your views of Mr. Camfield's report?

184

DR. LOWRY:
No.

185

MR. ROGERS:
Now, one last thing, Energy Probe has filed testimony in this case of Mr. Adams. Can you comment, just briefly, on that report.

186

DR. LOWRY:
Well, the one thing that stood out to me from Mr. Adams's report was his advocacy of the use of the so‑called frontier benchmarking methods, where basically you compare each utility to what you think is the best practice in a given area. And that was actually the focus of my work in England, the focus of a lot of my work in England, to try to provide arguments for OFGEM to reconsider their use of that standard. So I might just say a few things about that.

187

For one thing, I don't think if you're only going to use benchmarking as a screening tool there's no need to use a frontier standard. What you're looking for is like the worst 20 percent of the companies, and to do that you can compare ‑‑ you can have a standard of average efficiency for the industry just as easily as you could some sort of a frontier standard.

188

Secondly, experience has shown that the ‑‑ to get an idea of what best practice is, it's very sensitive to anomalies in the data. And as we know from everything that's been said here, we definitely cannot guarantee there aren't going to be anomalies in the data for Ontario.

189

So we don't really know who's on that frontier, but then to make matters a heck of a lot worse is the fact that any frontier that you could get a feel for is actually what they call an unsustainable frontier. Let's take as an example operating expenses for a power distributor. Maintaining the lines, cleaning the brush away from the lines and whatnot is a big ticket item in the cost, and you don't have to do it every year. So for example, a company could go a couple years, three years, and not do the proper maintenance, and low and behold that's who is going to be defining the frontier. But that's not the notion that's really relevant to the Ontario Energy Board. They're interested, if anything, in a, sort of, sustainable frontier, and it's simply impossible. No one has ever really devised a method for actually getting to the sustainable frontier.

190

For example, in the work we did in England that was presented to OFGEM, we went and we looked at the so‑called frontier benchmarking methods not as they have been applied in the utility industries, but as they've been applied in competitive industries, like agriculture or maybe banking. And what we found is that, on average, these studies found that the typical company was 20 percent shy of this frontier. And so the evidence, then, is that the frontier is not a proper standard, it's not a workable standard and, in fact, OFGEM in its wisdom has abandoned that standard for this current round of benchmarking.

191

MR. ROGERS:
Just one last question. Does this frontier standard analysis have any utility in benchmarking which will be used solely as a screening tool?

192

DR. LOWRY:
As I said before, I see no need for it, because when using an average standard like the cohort standard, which is what the Board has been thinking about doing all along, it works perfectly fine for that purpose. You're still going to be able to identify the 20 percent worst companies.

193

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you very much, Dr. Lowry. Unless you have anything further you'd like to add, I propose to invite my friends to examine you.

194

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, those are my questions.

195

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

196

Mr. McLorg, do you have any questions?

197

MR. McLORG:
Thank you. Yes, sir, I do. They're fairly limited, and I don't think I will be longer than 20 or 25 minutes.

198

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. McLORG:

199

MR. McLORG:
Good morning, Dr. Lowry. My name is Colin McLorg. I'm here to ask you some questions on behalf of Toronto Hydro, and there are really two areas that I'd like to explore generally. The first area has to do with the determination of cohorts, and the second area deals mainly with the statistical properties of Mr. Camfield's work. And I would just say at the beginning that I'd like to put these questions to you to obtain your opinion on Mr. Camfield's work in some of these areas that you haven't already discussed with Mr. Rogers this morning.

200

I'm doing that in part because this is a very technical area, and it's difficult for most people to get a grip on intuitively, and so I was hoping that some of your illumination would be helpful.

201

To begin with, Mr. Camfield said yesterday that comparators and cohorts is statistical benchmarking. And I wonder whether you might be able to confirm my understanding of statistical benchmarking, and I may very easily have the wrong understanding, but I had come to the impression that it involved the estimation of cost equations for utilities by which a dependent variable, some type of utility cost, would be explained in terms of a statistically estimated equation involving one or several explanatory or independent variables. And that after having estimated one or more of these equations to explain utility costs, that it would then be possible, in effect, to produce a predicted or a fitted value for any given individual utility that would be a result of plugging that utility's values for the explanatory variables into the estimated equation, and then you'd calculate a result. For example, if you were estimating an equation for O&M, you would plug in the values for a given utility and out would pop a predicted or a fitted value for O&M for that particular utility.

202

At a high level, am I more or less correct in that impression that I have of what's involved in statistical benchmarking?

203

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I actually define the term statistical benchmarking in my evidence, and I guess I don't quite agree with you.

204

MR. McLORG:
I see.

205

DR. LOWRY:
What you're talking, that approach, is a definitely a form of statistical benchmarking, but I would also consider that would be benchmarking. I mean, any form of benchmarking ‑‑

206

MS. LEA:
I'm sorry, Dr. Lowry, sometimes when you turn away from the mike, your words are lost, and then I don't know whether you said "not" or "yes" or ‑‑

207

DR. LOWRY:
Okay. I was saying that I consider the type of benchmarking that Mr. McLorg is talking about to be statistical benchmarking. But I also consider this approach to be statistical benchmarking. Any time that you're benchmarking to a ‑‑ using statistics about a sample, like the mean cost of a cohort, that is statistical benchmarking, in my view.

208

So I guess I have a broader notion of intent. I would even throw in the envelope analysis as a form of statistical benchmarking.

209

MR. McLORG:
I see. Well, thank you for that. And please, for the convenience of the Board, and for the reporter, feel free to address them and ‑‑ when you're giving your answer.

210

The reason that I'm asking you about that ‑‑ and I understand, from your last answer, that it's not that you disagree that the type of thing that I describe is statistical benchmarking, but, rather, are suggesting that it could be broader than that as well.

211

The reason that I'm asking questions along these lines is that I'm trying to come to an opinion about the usefulness and the role of cohorts in this entire process. And by that, I mean, the screening process that the Board wishes to undertake in processing the rate applications it will receive. And I'm just wondering whether you could abstract from the discussion that we've had so far ‑‑ step back for a moment, and give me your opinion as to the necessity, at all, of developing cohorts for this purpose. Would it be just as helpful and useful to the Board not to spend any effort in the development of cohorts, per se, but to still rely on a screening mechanism that would use the statistical results that are developed from analyzing all the data, and simply use, in each individual question ‑‑ or area to be investigated, the fitted value of the appropriate equation as a reference point? I'll avoid the use of the word "benchmark" ‑‑ but use that fitted value as a reference point in determining whether or not a given utility's performance is anomalous.

212

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I've been known to use both methods myself, sometimes in the same evidence. And I see certain benefits of ‑‑ more of a cohort approach. That's what I call "an index‑based approach", by the way, to benchmarking. And one of the nice things about the cohort approach is that it has more intuitive plausibility to a lot of people, and that matters quite a bit. The full‑fledged application of what you're talking about is something that so few people are actually going to understand that it can result in some erosion in confidence in the method. It might even result in the Board being reluctant to apply the method.

213

What Mr. Camfield is proposing is, kind of, a compromise between a pure index‑based approach and an econometric approach, by using the econometrics to guide the selection of the cohorts. And I could see that this is an approach that would balance ‑‑ besides, this is an approach that the Board, apparently ‑‑ Board and Board Staff have had an interest in doing for a long time. So this, perhaps, does strike a balance between a methodology that the Board is comfortable with and the desire to make an accurate method.

214

MR. McLORG:
Thank you for that, sir.

215

And just to follow up on the notion of plausibility overall, I was wondering whether you felt that it might be useful, or helpful, in terms of plausibility, if it were the case that, when the statistical analysis were done on utility costs, that perhaps utilities could be roughly subdivided into two or three groups, perhaps on the basis of size or number of customers, and ‑‑ or some fairly transparent variable like that. So that you'd have, instead of one great big bucket of utility costs ‑‑ you'd be segregating the statistical analysis into, kind of, small, medium and large categories.

216

Do you think that would be helpful in enhancing the plausibility and the statistical reliability of the results? Or would it just be better to have them all in one big bucket?

217

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I'm not quite understanding you, Mr. McLorg, because the ‑‑ they are going to have cohorts that they're going to divide up. Are you saying that this is for the purpose of econometric work?

218

MR. McLORG:
Yes.

219

DR. LOWRY:
No, I wouldn't do that. I think it's better to have them all in the same bucket.

220

MR. McLORG:
I see. Well thank you.

221

And just in terms of statistical clustering ‑‑ which I understand is the technique that's being proposed to determine the cohorts that each utility would fall into with respect to each different comparator, okay? I'm still struggling with that concept myself. And I don't mind telling you that, when I consider, on my understanding, that a cohort would be based on an analysis of the variables that go into each equation ‑‑ and the independent variables in that equation could be very, very different: Percentage of plant underground, and number of customers, and whether you're in northern Ontario, and that kind of thing. To me, it seems like taking an average of tires, rugs and table lamps. You know, to me, they're just not comparable. So I was wondering whether you could give me any, kind of, common sense explanation of what exactly the meaning of a "cluster", and, therefore, a "cohort" would be, if the dimensions of the variables that these clusters or cohorts are determined on are so, so different.

222

Is it sensible to adopt a statistical clustering technique when what you're really averaging are very, very different variables?

223

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I think so. As I said at the outset ‑‑ I guess one way of putting it is that, if you subscribe to the approach that you were just talking about, that you would also believe that it's the best way to come up with the clusters. Let's say we all sense ‑‑ suspect that there are six different variables that ought to be considered in deciding a cluster. Well, what is the ‑‑ how do we decide how much weight to put on each of those?

224

The answer would be a ‑‑ a sensible answer is to do some cost research and see what the relative cost impacts of these are. Sometimes things are more important than you thought. Sometimes they're less important, and sometimes they're not significant at all. And so this is a kind of way to keep the process on as scientific a level as possible.

225

MR. McLORG:
And ‑‑ I appreciate your answer. And just along those lines, would a similar idea be to weight the clustering procedure for each variable according to its explanatory power in the equation that's being ‑‑

226

DR. LOWRY:
Well, that's pretty much what's being proposed. I mean, I will say this: Mr. Camfield has not being very helpful about how, exactly, he has done that, or proposes to do it. And ‑‑ but I assume that that's what he's doing and ‑‑ and I agree with you that that's how it should be done.

227

MR. McLORG:
I see. Thank you.

228

Turning now to the general area of the statistical results of the estimated equations, it's my understanding, and I believe it to be true, that Mr. Camfield conducted his analysis based on total utility costs in different areas of utility activities. But, nevertheless, if we take, for example, billing and collection as being a defined area, that he used data for the 90 or so utilities on a total basis, so that all this data, from the different utilities, of markedly different sizes, was pooled and then analyzed.

229

And I guess I'll just ask you, first of all ‑‑ I assume that that would be your understanding, as well? That it was done on a total‑cost basis?

230

DR. LOWRY:
I don't particularly like that term, because, as he ‑‑ Mr. Camfield often says, we're not throwing capital cost and OpEx into the same equation, so I would call it a cost‑level basis.

231

MR. McLORG:
Okay. Well, I would be very happy to use that language then, it's actually the language I had in my own notes. So we agree, then, that was done on the basis of cost levels and it wasn't unitized at all on a per‑customer basis or on the basis of any other apparent level ‑‑ sorry apparent dimension of output.

232

DR. LOWRY:
That's right.

233

MR. McLORG:
I see. And would I be correct in understanding, then, that it would be plausible to expect that very, very small utilities with, say, less than 5,000 customers would have markedly lower cost levels than large utilities with half a million or more customers? Is that a reasonable thing to expect?

234

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

235

MR. McLORG:
And on that basis then, would it also be reasonable to expect that when one examines the total variation in the data, in other words, between the observed values of the variables and question, that that range, for example, on billing and collection costs would be very high depending on the size of the utility?

236

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

237

MR. McLORG:
I see. And then if one were to introduce as an explanatory variable in one of those equations a variable like customer numbers, I think ‑‑ would it be correct to suppose that that variable that represents, essentially, utility size would be very, very powerful in explaining the observed difference in the dependent variable, in this case, cost levels?

238

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, and not only that but almost any size of related variables would be found to be very powerful.

239

MR. McLORG:
I see. And in your opinion, is it relevant for this Board to be concerned about differences in cost levels per se, or ought it to be more concerned about differences in some form of unitized costs, like cost per customer or cost per something else?

240

DR. LOWRY:
Well, ultimately, it is the revenue requirement that is at issue here, and another problem with unit cost that I see is, well, how do you define that output in that case? As we talked before, it's actually a very multi‑dimensional phenomenon, and so you couldn't ‑‑ you wouldn't want to use just cost per customer, for example, that would be probably very flattering to Toronto Hydro but not so flattering to a lot of the rural utilities. I personally have ‑‑ there have been very few instances that I can think of where econometric work was done on a unit ‑‑ using unit cost as the dependent variable.

241

MR. McLORG:
I see. That's helpful. Thank you.

242

Would it, nevertheless, be the case in your view that if one were modelling based on cost levels, that the statistical robustness, so to speak, of the models, would be very, very much a function of the fact that there are very widely different cost levels as between different utilities? And the minute you introduce a variable that would represent utility size, that you would have, fairly obviously I would suggest, some very strong statistical results as a result of doing that.

243

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, that's true. And that's why, as I say, it's quite an art to try to get a model that is as rich as possible, that does the best job it can to identify the true cost drivers, the true output variables and other variables, and get the right functional form to get the most out of the data is always a challenge.

244

MR. McLORG:
So to summarize then, we shouldn't be surprised that there are strong results that are produced by Mr. Camfield's approach, given what's being undertaken.

245

DR. LOWRY:
No, and as I stated in my evidence, Mr. Camfield put very large weight in recommending to go forward with this procedure the fact that he was getting some pretty high explanatory power out of the model. But you would well expect that to be true and in fact, you could ‑‑ a couple of ‑‑ Colin McLorg and I, for example, could sit down for an hour and group companies by size, some simple notion of size if that's all that was involved.

246

MR. McLORG:
Thank you.

247

Can statistical results from a cost‑level modelling exercise be readily transferred or applied to another exercise that would be focussing on unit‑cost levels? And if you will permit me to rephrase the question, can Mr. Camfield's results, based on cost levels, be applied holus bolus, so to speak, to an approach based on unit‑cost levels, should the Board decide that it was more interested in unit‑cost levels, however defined?

248

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I'll just reiterate what I said. First of all, it's rarely been done that way, and second of all, it's a challenge getting a proper output quantity specification for the denominator of such a variable. For example, with a cost‑level approach, it is more likely to expect Toronto Hydro to be ‑‑ to take account of its operating scale, whereas the unit‑cost approach might sweep that under the table.

249

MR. McLORG:
Well, I won't belabor this beyond this one further question in the area. Would I be correct, in your opinion, in saying though that the Board ought not to concern itself per se with differences in cost levels if those cost level differences are readily explained by differences in utility size. Shouldn't the Board be more concerned about whether Toronto's unit costs compare favorably or unfavorably to those of other utilities?

250

What I'm trying to get at, Dr. Lowry, is that the size or scale of a utility operation per se, to me, is not a matter that I see, myself, as being relevant. But if you talk about what's the average cost to serve a residential customer, then that, to me, becomes more of a relevant comparison between Toronto, for example, and any other utility. And that's what I'm trying to get at here.

251

DR. LOWRY:
Well, it's understandable that the application of this approach as proposed to Toronto is awkward because it's such a large company. It might be that a resolution to that is simply that Toronto, like Hydro One, be subject to a traditional prudent review and have the benchmarking focus on somewhat smaller companies.

252

MR. McLORG:
Thank you. And if I may, I just have two or three questions left, Mr. Chair. And I embarrass myself because I ‑‑ the two of these are questions that I really could have asked before in connection with cohorts, so if I may return just briefly there.

253

I wanted to ask you your opinion on the question of how the number of cohorts should be established. And if the Board were to endorse the concept and the application of cohorts in this exercise, my question for you is: Should the data drive the number of cohorts that are determined for a particular comparator or should an arbitrary number of cohorts be established prior and then the utilities just fit it into those cohorts regardless?

254

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I think intuition suggests that the data should drive that, and Mr. Camfield was saying yesterday that he didn't know of any real objective function that would decide how many cohorts there should be. I disagree with that. I think you could probably find a way to balance considerations of the advantages of a larger number of companies in a cohort against the desirability to have cohorts with a similar group of companies. Because the statistical theory will show that the fewer the number of companies in the cohorts, the less precise will be the reckonings that come out of the cohorts. So I think there probably is a way to strike that balance.

255

MR. McLORG:
I see.

256

DR. LOWRY:
I have to say too that I think it would be a desirable part of this method to have a reckoning as to whether some companies just don't belong in the process, because there is no satisfactory cohort possible for them.

257

MR. McLORG:
And ‑ I realize this is very much off the top of your head ‑ but would it be sensible, to you, to think along the lines of saying that, if a given company that is placed in a given cohort is, say, more than two standard deviations away from the mean of that cohort, that it should really be considered as not properly belonging in that cohort? I don't mean that ‑‑ to suggest that to you, specifically, but some type of approach like that, that would measure the distance from the central tendency of the cohort?

258

DR. LOWRY:
Yes. Although using the business conditions ‑‑ that's what I was alluding to before, that the statistical clustering analysis should generate statistics of that sort, sort of a weighted‑average comparison of the similarity of each business condition to those for the cohort. And then there may be ‑‑ you know, you may find from that that there are certain companies that just shouldn't be in the process, because of their special nature.

259

MR. McLORG:
Thank you. And would it be fair to suggest, at this stage, that there ought to be a minimum number of utilities in any given cohort? Or do you think that that's a thing that can be spoken about helpfully at this stage?

260

DR. LOWRY:
Well, that kind of gets back to the issue of whether we're going to let the data drive that assessment. Maybe ‑‑ I think that's potentially a topic for research, as opposed to something where you arbitrarily set the number.

261

MR. McLORG:
I see, thank you.

262

And then my final question just goes to the issue of identifying anomalous results ‑‑ or anomalous cost levels for utilities. And I want to take you to a kind of an analogy for this, and ask you what your opinion might be.

263

In the area of medical testing and diagnosis, you may be familiar with a matrix that describes the power of a particular test or a screen to detect a particular condition. And, of course, there's all kinds of medical tests, but, generally speaking, they ‑‑ the outcomes of any particular test or screen could be described as a true positive result, a true negative result, a false positive result, and a false negative result. And, clearly, I would put to you that ‑‑ or, I would put to you, it's clearly the case that the Board would, in this instance, I think, like to maximize the number of results it would get that would be on the true side of that matrix. So the screen would truly indicate the presence of an anomaly, or truly indicate the absence of an anomaly. So, clearly, we want to maximize the performance of the screen on that side.

264

On your current understanding of what's being proposed, or even contemplated, right now, do you see very much prospect that there would be a concerning number of false positive or false negative results, using this approach?

265

DR. LOWRY:
Well, yes, unless there is a mid‑course correction. And we had focused in a hurry on a workable way of doing this. Yes, of course, there is a risk of that.

266

MR. McLORG:
Thank you, Dr. Lowry.

267

And, Mr. Chair, those are my questions.

268

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. McLorg.

269

We'll take the morning break now and come back at five after.

270

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.

271

‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:10 a.m.

272

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

273

Mr. Shepherd is next.

274

MR. SHEPHERD:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

275

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

276

MR. SHEPHERD:
Dr. Lowry, let me start with one of the things you talked about this morning which has me completely confused. And there's a section in your evidence, on page 19, where you talk about statistical tests of efficiency hypotheses. And then in your evidence today you said basically, you can find ways of determining, I guess, whether anomalous results are really anomalous; is that right?

277

DR. LOWRY:
They can be developed, yes.

278

MR. SHEPHERD:
And the way you're proposing to do that is by a confidence band.

279

DR. LOWRY:
That's how it would be viewed pictorially, is with a confidence interval, yes. I mean, in practice you might not use literally that, you can just use it as a test statistic, but that's one way of doing it.

280

MR. SHEPHERD:
You may find, by the way, that if you move your mike a little bit, you will be picked up a little more.

281

DR. LOWRY:
Okay.

282

MR. SHEPHERD:
Thanks. But the essence of the confidence band, then, is that if you're only 10 percent above, let's say, 10 percent above the median or the mean, whichever you're using for a particular comparator, you're considered to be on target. But if you're more than that, if it's ‑‑ where whether it's 10 percent or 15 or whatever, then it's time to look see what the problem is.

283

DR. LOWRY:
Well, you're much more likely to be found to be anomalous if you have a more extreme value, that's true.

284

MR. SHEPHERD:
Is that typically a continuous function, or is there some discontinuity there where you can say that within 10 percent is qualitatively different from more than 10 percent, or whatever the number is?

285

DR. LOWRY:
I'm not sure what you mean by that.

286

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well, I guess we can all understand intuitively that being 2 percent over is not as bad as being 4 percent over, and it's not as bad as being 6 percent over, but that's sort of continuous; right? It just gets worse and worse. But another possibility is that, at a certain point, being offside is ‑‑ there's a leap, if you'd like, it's much more likely you will have a problem. Do you understand what I'm saying?

287

DR. LOWRY:
Well, with a confidence interval approach, there is this marked discontinuity where you are deemed to be significantly inferior, appear to be significantly inferior, you might say significantly anomalous, versus being considered to be average, that's true. And when hypothesis tests are done they ‑‑ that's how they're usually done. Actually, there are very few benchmarking people who use confidence intervals or who use hypothesis tests. We have done it routinely for years, but most people actually don't do it at all. So there's not a lot of other experience other than what we've done, and we usually have used more like a test statistic or a confidence‑interval approach, whether you either are significantly anomalous or you are not.

288

MR. SHEPHERD:
And this is really, sort of, a statistical application of common sense. You look at the ones that are more offside.

289

DR. LOWRY:
Well, you might say that statistics is an application of common sense.

290

MR. SHEPHERD:
Yeah. All right.

291

Let me turn to some of the things we discussed with Mr. Camfield yesterday. At page 12 of your evidence, you talk about capital expenditures and how you deal with those, and you have made clear that comparing OpEx, without taking into account capital investment, basically means that you're likely to be offside, you're likely to not have a good comparison; right?

292

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

293

MR. SHEPHERD:
And this is because, as we talked yesterday, CapEx and OpEx are, to a certain extent, interchangeable. That is, if you spend more on capital you're less likely to have to spend on operating expenses and vice versa.

294

DR. LOWRY:
Well, the biggest ticket example was one that was kicked around a bit yesterday. Does undergrounding tend to raise or lower your OpEx? And the answer is that it tends to lower your OpEx, because of lower maintenance.

295

MR. SHEPHERD:
Yes. But this is not a new problem, other people have had to deal with this; right?

296

DR. LOWRY:
Well, lots of people have dealt with it, but that doesn't mean it always happens. A case in point is, as I mentioned before, this dreadful benchmarking work that was done in England where it was not ‑‑ it was not considered, even though they'd had five years to think of something better than the previous dreadful application of benchmarking.

297

MR. SHEPHERD:
But it isn't a new problem. There are lots of people smarter than me that have already talked this up a lot; right?

298

DR. LOWRY:
Well, if you look in the literature though, it's very rare to actually see proper controls for this.

299

MR. SHEPHERD:
Why is that?

300

DR. LOWRY:
This is not really an area that has been exhaustively explored by scientists. We probably do as much of it as anyone in the world, and we're getting around to it now after doing it for many years.

301

MR. SHEPHERD:
I guess in my experience with issues like this, if they really are important, they draw attention. And I ‑‑ so I'd have to ask why this hasn't drawn enough attention?

302

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I mean, where is benchmarking used? To regulate a few power distributors around the world. What share of the US ‑‑ the world economy is power distribution? 0.2 of 1 percent? So actually, it isn't that surprising to me that economists haven't gotten around to addressing all of these questions. They kind of come up over time, and they're just gradually being worked on.

303

MR. SHEPHERD:
There are benchmarking or comparison techniques in use in regulatory agencies, hundreds of them around the world; right?

304

DR. LOWRY:
Nothing like hundreds.

305

MR. SHEPHERD:
Dozens?

306

DR. LOWRY:
Probably not even a dozen. As I've said in my previous commentary, it is used by regulators in some northern European countries, maybe six such countries, and some Latin American countries, but no, total number of regular commissions that use benchmarking might be a dozen.

307

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay.

308

DR. LOWRY:
Might not even be that.

309

MR. SHEPHERD:
But some solutions have been found; right? So for example, you mention one in your evidence which is ‑‑ it really looks like a neat shortcut. That is, you take the ratio of accumulated depreciation to net plant value and you use that as a proxy for system age.

310

DR. LOWRY:
Yes. That's never been used in regulation.

311

MR. SHEPHERD:
Does it generally work though? You've tested this ‑‑

312

DR. LOWRY:
Well, that was one part of my testimony was to comment on things that we've tried, and we have had some success with that and some other measures of system age. And I recommend that that methods like that be explored here in Ontario.

313

MR. SHEPHERD:
Things like that, when you find a proxy that intuitively should work, you can actually test it statistically and see if it works; right?

314

DR. LOWRY:
Yeah. There is a plausible sign whether it's statistically significant, i.e., whether it seems to explain some of the cost variation.

315

MR. SHEPHERD:
Then once you do, you don't have to actually go back to system age because you have a simple piece of information that will work as a proxy for it; right?

316

DR. LOWRY:
Well, you have to try it every time. I mean, I think it's more the case that once you find the case that it works, you should always be looking for it in the future when you have a new data set to work with.

317

MR. SHEPHERD:
And I guess that some of the other capital cost variables, the other problems with taking capital cost and adjusting OpEx for capital cost can be dealt with in similar ways, with proxies or with short cuts that work; right?

318

DR. LOWRY:
Well, we should be trying to do that, but as I said, it has never really been done. It's never been worked out very thoroughly, particularly in an application to capital cost itself. And so it's very much on the frontier, not just of regulation, but even of the benchmarking science.

319

MR. SHEPHERD:
You would recommend that Mr. Camfield, if the Board asks him to go forward with some sort of comparators and cohorts mechanism, that he use some of these techniques to bring capital costs into OpEx for the purpose of making the OpEx comparable.

320

DR. LOWRY:
Yes. Capital ‑‑ you might say capital‑cost considerations ‑‑

321

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay.

322

DR. LOWRY:
‑‑ for instance, hedge‑type variables, or ‑‑ may be a measure of the capital stock, itself, although ‑‑ though, as I've said, that's going to be hard to do here, in Ontario, due to problems for data collection that results from the peculiar history of the industry.

323

MR. SHEPHERD:
Now ‑‑ so let me move, now, to FTEs. And you will recall the discussion we have ‑‑ had with Mr. Camfield yesterday, and you've mentioned it again on page 12 of your material. You talk about the fact that a utility that out‑sources more than average will have skewed labour numbers; right?

324

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

325

MR. SHEPHERD:
And Mr. Camfield, yesterday, said, there are accepted ways of converting or ‑‑ there are techniques available for converting exterior ‑‑ external FTEs into FTE equivalents, internally. Right?

326

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I ‑‑ I mean, I could imagine doing that, but I don't ‑‑ I've never done that, and I'm not even sure that I would approve of doing that, actually. I think it's probably better just ‑‑ when you're looking at ‑‑ if you were looking at labour cost, to consider how much other inputs the company is using, even if it's just to have the other operating expenses in the equation. I might say, though, that, you know, the econometric techniques available to do some of these things have not been worked out, either. The one case where there is an accepted approach is if you're looking at OpEx versus capital. Because so much of the capital was put in in the past, it's considered an exogenous variable. But when you're talking about looking just at labour, it's not even clear what econometric method is appropriate. So that's how far on the frontier you are, in doing these things.

327

MR. SHEPHERD:
But you're not suggesting that we simply ignore labour comparisons.

328

DR. LOWRY:
Well, you certainly could, and just look at OpEx. Yes, you could. Look at OpEx, or look at the OpEx productivity, meaning you could come up with index of the quantities of OpEx inputs. You don't have to look at labour by itself. I mean, the whole idea of this was to simplify the Board's process, and you don't have to ‑‑ you know, you're not necessarily ‑‑ want to be drawn into the finest level of detail.

329

MR. SHEPHERD:
In a normal prudence review, one of the things that regulatory commissions normally look at is, how efficiently do you use your human resources; right?

330

DR. LOWRY:
In a normal prudence review, that might be the case.

331

MR. SHEPHERD:
And what ‑‑

332

DR. LOWRY:
That's what we're trying to avoid here. I mean, we're trying to limit the use of that, or, put it a different way, to direct the limited resources to the cases that seem most worrisome.

333

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well, isn't one of the things we're trying to do with comparators and cohorts to replace the one‑by‑one reviews with some sort of statistical model that does the same things, or does as much of the same things as possible, more efficiently? Isn't that right?

334

DR. LOWRY:
Well, yeah, but it wouldn't necessarily be to replicate every step. I mean, think of ‑‑ if you're inventing a new technology to replace an old technology, and that old technology involved five steps, the new technology doesn't necessarily define a better way to do each of those five steps. They may have a three‑step method.

335

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay.

336

DR. LOWRY:
So, for example, if you had terrific, terrific capital‑cost data, you might just want to look at total cost. Unfortunately, in this case, it's very hard to do that, because the capital‑cost measurement is a challenge.

337

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. So let me just ‑‑ those two areas, the CapEx area and the labour cost area, are particularly difficult problems for comparability, aren't they?

338

DR. LOWRY:
Well, the capital is probably more so than looking at labour, but they both have their special problems.

339

MR. SHEPHERD:
And you're familiar with how cost allocation is done in most jurisdictions?

340

DR. LOWRY:
I have some familiarity.

341

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. And one of the things that's done is that you functionalize and classify expenditures, both operating expenditures and capital, the rate‑base amounts; right? You're familiar with that?

342

DR. LOWRY:
Mm‑hm.

343

MR. SHEPHERD:
And so one of the things you could do, couldn't you, if you have a functionalization classification process that you do anyway, is compare based on functions rather than based on the type of expenditure; right? That would be more comparable, because you've already allocated correctly to a particular activity; isn't that right?

344

DR. LOWRY:
I'm not sure what you mean by that.

345

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well, for example, when you're calculating rates, you look at the billing and collection function, and you say, What are our labour costs and what are our rent costs and our overhead costs and our rate‑base costs, associated with billing and collection; right? And so you have a number for that.

346

DR. LOWRY:
Mm‑hm.

347

MR. SHEPHERD:
Couldn't you then compare those numbers across utilities, because those are comparable; right?

348

DR. LOWRY:
You mean like the labour costs?

349

MR. SHEPHERD:
No, not the labour costs. The billing and collection function ‑‑ functional cost, across the utility?

350

DR. LOWRY:
Well, yes, you could. And, in a sense, that's what is being proposed here. No one was saying to go down to the level of, say, labour versus other O&M, although there was a proposal to go down to OpEx versus capital. But, in the sense that was being proposed: Let's look at customer care OpEx; let's look at what he calls wires and interconnection OpEx, and so on.

351

MR. SHEPHERD:
All right. Let me turn to the next area.

352

You recalled Mr. Warren talked to Mr. Camfield yesterday about how you measure success of this sort of technique, comparison technique or benchmarking technique, and that ended up being a discussion, later on, about the purpose of this mechanism. And you've been very clear that you have to limit it to screening; right?

353

DR. LOWRY:
I was recommending that it be limited to screening in this go around.

354

MR. SHEPHERD:
Would you agree that it's, basically, a diagnostic tool, as Mr. Camfield said yesterday?

355

DR. LOWRY:
I'm recommending using it as a diagnostic tool in this go around.

356

MR. SHEPHERD:
And so when ‑‑ we characterized yesterday that what it does is it raises a prima facie issue that you have to look into more carefully; is that right? Is that fair?

357

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

358

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. Is it also fair to say that you can use this to identify generic issues, issues that appear to have a common cause, or might have a common cause, and you want to look into it?

359

DR. LOWRY:
Like?

360

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well, the example is that, if you find that all of the privately‑owned utilities, as opposed to public sector utilities, have higher labour costs, then that's something that you would want to look into to see whether that's a common‑cause effect; right?

361

DR. LOWRY:
It could be used that way. We learn a learn a lot from cost research. It has implications for a lot of things. For example, it would ‑‑ it will tend to support the idea of having a rate design that has more weight on the number of customers than on the delivery value.

362

MR. SHEPHERD:
Because ‑‑

363

DR. LOWRY:
Because statistics show that customers are the dominant cost driver. It implies that an access charge should carry more of the weight.

364

MR. SHEPHERD:
Because so much of the costs are fixed, regardless of your volume?

365

DR. LOWRY:
No, not for that reason. That's the interesting thing. Just because, in the long run, it's the dominant driver of the costs, it's the long ‑‑ in the long run, it's the dominant cost driver.

366

MR. SHEPHERD:
The empirical evidence just tells you that?

367

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

368

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. The other possible thing you could use this for is to identify best practices. Where you find people are offside on the good side in a particular area, and you drill down ‑ you ask the question, Why are they better on labour costs, or this or that, or whatever ‑ you can then find that somebody's doing something really good, that then can be rolled out to other utilities if it's good; right?

369

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

370

MR. SHEPHERD:
Do people do that? Is that done in other jurisdictions?

371

DR. LOWRY:
Well, no, that's not done by regulators. That's what people ‑‑ it's what companies privately do sometimes. They'll do some statistical benchmarking, and they'll figure, Why was that guy so much better? And they'll send out a delegation to look at what they do.

372

MR. SHEPHERD:
And that would be a good thing to do here; right?

373

DR. LOWRY:
It could be considered.

374

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay.

375

So the final area, then, is the issue that you've raised in your paper, and in your evidence this morning, as, I guess, the most difficult here, and that's data integrity ‑ the quality of the data and how that affects the reliability of your results; right?

376

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

377

MR. SHEPHERD:
And that's a big problem in Ontario?

378

DR. LOWRY:
Of course.

379

MR. SHEPHERD:
That's a big problem everywhere; right?

380

DR. LOWRY:
Definitely.

381

MR. SHEPHERD:
Now, Mr. Camfield said that in the United States, there are less problems like that, but that, also, the data that's being provided by the utilities is somewhat simpler, and the comparators are somewhat simpler. Do you agree with that?

382

DR. LOWRY:
I really don't know that the data is better in the United States than it is here. I mean, there's lots of problems with the US data, and as Mr. Camfield has observed, there are certain refinements in data collection here that they don't have in the States. The uniform system of accounts has not been changed for a long time, and so I'm not so sure that the US data is perfect.

383

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. So let me ask then, the problems with the data are primarily because you want to compare disaggregated information and people allocate things differently, they treat things differently; right?

384

DR. LOWRY:
Well, that's certainly one of the problems, yes. For example, something I really haven't emphasized enough here yet today is just the capitalization of O&M expenses is something that could vary a lot, and there ought to be data collected as to what percentage of your gross O&M expenses you are capitalizing.

385

MR. SHEPHERD:
That's one of those proxies that you could use to make the OpEx more comparable; right? If you took a percentage of capitalized versus non‑capitalized O&M, you might be able to test that and see how that deals ‑‑ how that affects your OpEx comparisons.

386

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

387

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. At the other end, as we discussed yesterday, you could also compare prices; right? And that's, in fact, what the market does with competitive companies, it compares prices; right?

388

DR. LOWRY:
Well, you can, but if you're comparing prices, you are looking for lots of complications. We've talked about the difficulty of benchmarking capital cost, well, in a capital‑intensive business‑like power distribution, differences in prices have a lot to do with differences in capital costs. And so it's very much easier said than done to benchmark prices, and in fact it has ‑‑ it has rarely been done in practice, that I know of.

389

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well ‑‑

390

DR. LOWRY:
Either academically or by regulators.

391

MR. SHEPHERD:
But one thing is true, isn't it, that is that it's the prices that the ratepayers care about; right?

392

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

393

MR. SHEPHERD:
And it is true that if you compare prices, you don't have the data integrity issue. The prices are the prices. They're known.

394

DR. LOWRY:
Well, they are the prices, all right, but then what is, say, the capital cost that underpins the price? It is still an issue of how did they do it, and you know, what is their depreciation rate, and what was the history of the amalgamations, and all of that stuff is going to factor into the price. But once you get it, it is ‑‑ basically, what is the price? It's the total cost that's somehow been divvied up in a way that somehow reflects operating scale.

395

MR. SHEPHERD:
But the problem you've raised, and I think Mr. Camfield, fairly, has raised it as well, is that if you compare O&M, for example, you don't know ‑‑ and you're using it as a screening tool just to see what you're supposed to look at more carefully, if you compare O&M, you don't know whether the numbers you're comparing are actually similar numbers. You might be comparing apples and oranges; right?

396

DR. LOWRY:
Mm‑hm.

397

MR. SHEPHERD:
If you compare prices as a screening tool, you have no issue about whether you're comparing apples and oranges; right? It's apples and apples. But ‑‑

398

MR. ROGERS:
Well, can he let him answer the question, Mr. Chairman.

399

MR. SHEPHERD:
I wasn't finished the question.

400

MR. ROGERS:
Maybe that's part of the problem. Ask one at a time.

401

MR. KAISER:
Why don't you try again, Mr. Shepherd.

402

MR. SHEPHERD:
If you compare prices, you are comparing apples and apples and ‑‑

403

MR. ROGERS:
There's the question, I think, Mr. Chairman. He may not agree with that.

404

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay.

405

DR. LOWRY:
Well, perhaps it would be best if you keep going.

406

MR. SHEPHERD:
If you compare prices, you are comparing apples and apples, and it's only when you look at the causes of the differences, the disaggregation that you start to have the comparability problem again; right?

407

DR. LOWRY:
Well, you do reduce the special problems of disaggregation by going to a price measure, and I would like to remind you that a moment ago you were talking about benchmarking labour, and now you're talking about benchmarking price, that's at the opposite extreme of aggregation. So yes, you finesse some of those partial cost challenges, but at the same time you're into this area of capital cost. So it's ‑‑ and that's difficult in this province, a difficult thing to get your hands around.

408

For example, you would want to be trying system age variables in the equation, because that's definitely going to affect the price that you charge. You do solve some problems, but then you're backing into more of the capital cost challenge.

409

MR. SHEPHERD:
But I guess what we're trying to pursue is ‑‑ the whole thing here is about figuring out what applications you look at more closely; right?

410

DR. LOWRY:
Mm‑hm.

411

MR. SHEPHERD:
And certainly one way to do that is to look at the high‑priced utilities; right?

412

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I mean, of course you can do it. The question is, is that a good way? In our conversations here, I think we've kind of pointed our way to focussing on OpEx, trying to put in some capital cost considerations, to me that's pretty workable. I mean, so to me, based on all these discussions, that seems to be the best way.

413

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well, we talked yesterday about the bottom‑up approach that you're talking about and that Mr. Camfield is talking about and the top‑down approach of looking at price, and then seeing, okay, if there's a price differential, are there cost anomalies that might be the cause of that, and are there legitimate reasons for those cost anomalies. You could do it that way; right?

414

DR. LOWRY:
Well, again, that gets that these issues of Capital. I keep saying that it's still very complicated and you are more having to deal with this capital cost issue than you would if you were looking at OpEx, which also is the part that's controllable.

415

MR. SHEPHERD:
All right. You haven't talked about the issues of confidentiality of data. I don't recall seeing that in your paper either; maybe I missed that. Do you have thoughts about that issue? You heard the discussion about it yesterday, what should be public and how the information could be misused or misunderstood by the public.

416

DR. LOWRY:
Mm‑hm.

417

MR. SHEPHERD:
Can you give the Board any guidance on that?

418

DR. LOWRY:
I'm sorry, I haven't really thought too much about that issue. Up until now, I've kind of taken it as a given. I guess I could see some pros and cons of having publicly‑available data versus having it confidential.

419

MR. SHEPHERD:
Mr. Camfield indicated to us yesterday that, generally speaking, comparisons between utilities, where it's done in other jurisdictions, is public. Is that your experience?

420

DR. LOWRY:
I guess I don't know how that particular thing is done in numerous jurisdictions where it's done for ‑‑ where the benchmarking is done by the regulator. I guess I'm not really sure how it's done in across jurisdictions, I know in England the data is in the public domain. In other cases, I don't know. In most other cases, I don't know. Like in Norway, the Netherlands, I don't know how they do it.

421

MR. SHEPHERD:
You've done quite a number of benchmarking studies yourself; right?

422

DR. LOWRY:
I have, yes, not for regulators, however.

423

MR. SHEPHERD:
And most of the time when you do a benchmarking study you're acting for a utility that's benchmarking itself against others; right?

424

DR. LOWRY:
Mm‑hm.

425

MR. SHEPHERD:
So that information is public because they've got a rate application.

426

DR. LOWRY:
That's true.

427

MR. SHEPHERD:
Yeah, okay.

428

DR. LOWRY:
I guess I should chime in, I guess I ‑‑ I haven't really thought about this, but I made reference earlier to a benchmarking exercise in Victoria, Australia that they weren't very happy with, and in that case, the data was confidential.

429

MR. SHEPHERD:
Was it because they found that it wasn't good data in the end?

430

DR. LOWRY:
No, I don't think that was the reason. I'm not sure why they kept it confidential.

431

MR. SHEPHERD:
When you say confidential, who ended up seeing it?

432

DR. LOWRY:
Pardon?

433

MR. SHEPHERD:
Who ended up seeing that data?

434

DR. LOWRY:
Only the regulator.

435

MR. SHEPHERD:
And they made decisions on the basis of that information?

436

DR. LOWRY:
Well, as I said, they went to such a micro level of analysis, everyone was so upset about that that they ended up throwing it out, really. In other words, they went to a micro level of analysis without any attempt to control for the fact that they were operating at such a micro level, and so they really couldn't draw any conclusions from the results.

437

MR. SHEPHERD:
The more granularity you have, the more likely you are to have data comparability problems, right, generally speaking?

438

DR. LOWRY:
You know, that word "granularity" is one I'm not that comfortable with.

439

MR. SHEPHERD:
Disaggregation.

440

DR. LOWRY:
Okay. Well, yes.

441

MR. SHEPHERD:
Mr. Chairman, those are my questions. Thanks.

442

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

443

Mr. White, do you have any questions?

444

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. WHITE:

445

MR. WHITE:
Yes, I have two areas that I'd like the witness to talk about.

446

I'm Roger White, and I'm here representing a coalition of nine small and medium‑sized distributors in Ontario.

447

I'd like to first talk a little bit about ‑‑ ask you a little bit about your comments on capital and age of plant. You suggested that accumulated depreciation as a percent of original cost might be used to try and determine an age proxy.

448

DR. LOWRY:
Well, it's one that's readily available, and so it merits experimentation with that. I don't think that is necessarily the best way to go, however. It might be best to come up with some variables that, as Mr. Camfield was suggesting in his amended data request, went back and asked how many customers you had served back into the past. Unfortunately, I don't think 10 years is enough to do a good job with that.

449

So suffice it to say that I can't guarantee that the problem is fixed by using just that variable. In fact, I've had, in my own research, mixed luck with that variable.

450

MR. WHITE:
If I were ‑‑

451

[Microphone feedback]

452

MS. LEA:
Try another mike, sir.

453

MR. WHITE:
Let me move a little to the right.

454

MS. LEA:
I think the difficulty, sir, is sometimes these things are part of a chaotic system, not readily understandable by the normal ‑‑

455

MR. WHITE:
Just so long as you don't try and take me to [inaudible], I'll be okay.

456

Okay. If I were to suggest to you that there are two kinds of removals in the Ontario marketplace ‑ there's the one where the old plant is actually removed, and then original costs and depreciation are removed from the assets ‑ I think that would not in any way compromise using the accumulated depreciation as a percent of original cost, because the actual plant is still involved; correct?

457

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

458

MR. WHITE:
Okay. If I were to also suggest that utilities in Ontario, most of them that are public utilities, were using straight‑line depreciation, and part of their accounting processes, they were using, typically, 25 years, with 4 percent per year, and if, at the end of that 25‑year period, if both the original cost of the asset and the accumulated depreciation associated with that asset were removed, notwithstanding the fact that it was still in service, would that in any way influence the ability to use accumulated depreciation as a percent of total plant?

459

DR. LOWRY:
Well, a 25‑year ‑‑ I mean, what stuck out to me when you said that is that 25 years is awfully short. So if you don't have a depreciation of rates that are in line with the actual service life, yes, it's going to degrade the value of that measure.

460

MR. WHITE:
And what impact would removing that, both the original cost and the accumulated depreciation, have on looking at the utility's books at a point in time in ‑‑

461

DR. LOWRY:
Well, it would probably give an exaggerated notion of how little capital it had.

462

MR. WHITE:
Thank you. I find that very helpful.

463

Let me go to the second area of my interest, and that is the inclusion or exclusion of individual utilities from any cohort‑type analysis. You mentioned something, that business conditions might be a consideration that would lead you to an exclusion. Can you help me understand that a little more, what you mean by that?

464

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I think that, as I said before, a statistical clustering analysis is going to put everybody in a cohort, but it should also readily generate some index of how similar the business could be ‑‑ the measured business conditions of each company in the cohort are to the norms for the cohort. And so that would be a good type of statistic to work with in deciding whether or not some companies just should be kept out of the benchmarking exercise, because it might be that they are so different that they are not going to get a fair appraisal on the method.

465

MR. WHITE:
Can you comment on the risk that might be ‑‑ might result from, at the front end of the process, before the analysis is done, removing individual distributors from the data on the basis of perceived fundamental business differences as opposed to letting ‑‑ I think what you described earlier as letting the data or the numbers drive you in terms of the direction of producing the cohorts.

466

DR. LOWRY:
Well, if you're going to use cost levels as the choice, as the performance variable, it's pretty obvious that there's a few large companies that just aren't going to fit in. And with regards to those, I just would wonder why the Board wouldn't want to do a traditional ‑‑ full‑fledged traditional rate case anyway. I mean, every year, or almost every other year, they are looking at the costs of Enbridge and Union Gas. Why wouldn't they ‑‑ I can see them doing the same for Toronto and Hydro One; I can so easily see that.

467

MR. WHITE:
Does a full rate case review remove the potential value that would flow from a cohort‑type analysis that might identify things that were different about the two examples you'd use that could be improved on when you look at other utilities which may have similar business constraints or activities or conditions, not being ‑‑ scale not being one of them?

468

DR. LOWRY:
Well, it might be nice to have such numbers, but it may not be possible either, if there's just no one ‑‑ if you can't make a cohort for them. I mean, the whole idea of the screening is to decide who to submit to a more detailed review, and you're already going to be reviewing them anyway.

469

MR. WHITE:
Okay. So that if you were going to take it beyond the screening process, you would certainly agree that you would need all the parties in the process.

470

DR. LOWRY:
Well, no, I'm not agreeing to that.

471

MR. WHITE:
I'm sorry, go ahead.

472

DR. LOWRY:
As I say, I could see different treatments for the two or three largest companies. And I would think that the Board, who actually doesn't have extensive experience in power distribution economics anyway, wouldn't just want to sit down and a stem‑to‑stern, traditional rate case for a few of the companies.

473

MR. WHITE:
Okay, thank you. Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.

474

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. White.

475

Mr. Adams?

476

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS:

477

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

478

Dr. Lowry, will you agree with me that Ontario has some unique characteristics, relatively unique characteristics, from the point of view of the application of benchmarking because, relative to jurisdictions like the UK, for example, we have quite a large population of cases to draw data from?

479

DR. LOWRY:
Well, it certainly is a much larger sample than is available in the UK. The UK could have supplemented their sample if they'd just gathered data every year, but they haven't seen fit to do that.

480

MR. ADAMS:
And would you agree with me that other jurisdictions like Norway, that has a large population of distributors, provide maybe some closer analogy to our situation institutionally here in Ontario?

481

DR. LOWRY:
Well, in terms of sample size, yes.

482

MR. ADAMS:
And the Norwegians do use benchmarking techniques for regulation.

483

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

484

MR. ADAMS:
You've made a number of comments with respect to your experience in the UK ‑‑

485

DR. LOWRY:
May I just comment one thing about what you just said, Mr. Adams, is that the sample size does help the Norwegians see their way to benchmarking, but the daunting task of regulating 100 distributors is another reason they find benchmarking interesting.

486

MR. ADAMS:
Right, both of which are relevant to our circumstances here in Ontario, would you agree?

487

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

488

MR. ADAMS:
Your CV is so extensive I wasn't able to ‑‑ I hope that wasn't me. The signal to noise ratio in regulation, sir.

489

Can you help me identify the utilities in the UK that you were working for in your experience in benchmarking for electric LDCs, sir?

490

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, I've worked for Eastern Seaboard London, United Utilities, Yorkshire and Northern.

491

MR. ADAMS:
Perhaps it's easier to make a list of those that you haven't worked for.

492

You've made a number of colorful comments with respect to the disappointment experienced in the UK. Would it be fair to say that the chief disappointment appears to have been the failure of the utility regulators there to estimate the apparent large size of available inefficiency to be harvested for the benefit of consumers?

493

DR. LOWRY:
No, I don't agree with that.

494

MR. ADAMS:
Were any of the clients that you were working for in the UK suffering from unsustainably low financial returns?

495

DR. LOWRY:
I don't really know the financial returns of any of those companies, but I will say that one thing that you neglected to mention in your evidence is that when they started out price caps in England, they actually assigned negative X factors to the companies. Some companies sold them on the idea that they had a lot of capital investments to make, and so they thought, Oh boy, how are they going to finance that? We better give them CPI plus 2 percent and not CPI minus 2 percent. And that's the biggest reason that there were excess earnings in ‑‑ for five or so years.

496

MR. ADAMS:
So ‑‑

497

DR. LOWRY:
And nothing to do with ‑‑ well, there was no benchmarking at that time, anyway.

498

MR. ADAMS:
But the utilities were successful in pulling the wool over the eyes of their regulators in those instances.

499

DR. LOWRY:
I guess you'd call it that.

500

MR. ADAMS:
You expressed concern about the techniques used in the UK tending to bias the operations of the utilities towards perhaps unsustainable short‑term cuts. Do you have any comment with respect to the observation in the UK that it appears that the utilities that are most efficient, certainly measured in operating cost terms, appear to be the ones that make the greatest gains with respect to cost reductions?

501

DR. LOWRY:
Yeah, I'm glad you asked that question, because that type of comment can tempt regulators to believe that there are these inexhaustible sources of productivity growth. And let me just start by mentioning an aside, some work that I've been working in Melbourne, Australia where somebody did some benchmarking that showed that ‑‑ sort of quick and dirty benchmarking, and it seemed to suggest that the company that had the most rapid productivity growth over the last 13 years was the one that had been the most efficient at the start. And the result was that there was the ‑‑ the company that had the second most rapid productivity growth, was actually, at the end of the period, still one of the worst performers. Well, the findings of both types are going to support the idea that there are these inexhaustible sources of productivity, wells of productivity to draw on. We came in and did some better benchmarking, and it really became obvious that nothing of this sort was true. Both companies that had been the rapid productivity growers had been the least efficient at the start.

502

So the kind of evidence you're talking about is the work that Cambridge Economic Policy Associates did, and I simply don't consider that to be necessarily credible. I know that I didn't agree with their capital cost treatment, which is very important in a power distribution TFP study, and the data available for benchmarking, as we've already alluded to, is very, very limited here. So I just don't accept the idea that there is a lot of evidence for that type of magical activity.

503

MR. ADAMS:
Sir, you have a good deal of experience with benchmarking where the effort is to compare the performance of firms in a variety of jurisdictions. Do I understand that correctly?

504

DR. LOWRY:
Could you repeat that question, Mr. Adams.

505

MR. ADAMS:
I understand you to have experience in studying the performance of firms where the firms that you are studying are not all in the same jurisdiction, they're in multiple jurisdictions.

506

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, that's right.

507

MR. ADAMS:
Extra‑jurisdictional comparisons.

508

DR. LOWRY:
Mm‑hm.

509

MR. ADAMS:
And I was wanting to get your advice as to whether there are opportunities to use these techniques that are applied in these extra‑jurisdictional comparisons for our purposes here in Ontario. Would it be possible to compare labour cost with respect to our electric distribution utilities in Ontario versus the labour costs for other industries, for example, also in Ontario?

510

DR. LOWRY:
I think that would be very hard to do because that is, sort of, an apples‑and‑oranges comparison. I mean, they do such different things that the technologies can be very different. And you know even within each industry, again, some companies they are outsourcing so much, including outsourcing to affiliates, that it's really getting hard to compare labour costs. So it's better to look at the overall operating expenses.

511

MR. ADAMS:
How about the operation of off‑grid service.

512

DR. LOWRY:
Sorry, I'm not sure what you mean by that.

513

MR. ADAMS:
One of the characteristics of power supply to consumers in Ontario is that some consumers located in remote communities are served by off‑grid operations, they're not connected to the main transmission system.

514

DR. LOWRY:
Okay.

515

MR. ADAMS:
So you've got these islanded, small service areas, where the aggregated costs are substantial, but we have many jurisdictions in other parts of Canada that provide service in a similar fashion. Could it be appropriate to compare the cost of service in those ‑‑ for those remote communities jurisdiction‑to‑jurisdiction?

516

DR. LOWRY:
It's just a matter of cost and benefits. I'm sure that the companies in question, you know, account for about 1 percent of total cost here, and when you're getting into jurisdictions in Canada, you know, the data is ‑‑ can be ‑‑ there can be a lot of data standardization issues. So you could do that in principle, if you're really worried about their operating efficiency, but it might not be worth all the effort.

517

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Adams, the Board is going to take the lunch break now and come back at 1:00. Do you have any idea how much longer you'll be.

518

MR. ADAMS:
I believe I will be only 15 or 20 minutes.

519

MR. KAISER:
During the break, Ms. Lea, could you canvass counsel to see whether we will be able to get to Mr. White today.

520

MS. LEA:
I'll do my best to create that estimate, sir.

521

MR. KAISER:
All right. Back at 1:00.

522

‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.

523

‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:08 p.m.

524

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

525

Ms. Lea?

526

MS. LEA:
Thank you, sir. I believe that Mr. Adams is in the middle of his cross‑examination.

527

MR. KAISER:
Proceed.

528

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

529

Mr. Lowry, I have a couple of questions with regard to clustering and cluster analysis. Would you agree with me, sir, that there are a variety of techniques that might be applied to a cluster analysis?

530

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

531

MR. ADAMS:
And examples might include tree‑clustering, two‑way joining, K‑means clustering, a variety of things, in addition to the Euclidean squared‑distance proposal?

532

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

533

MR. ADAMS:
Do you have any advice on how to select among these techniques?

534

DR. LOWRY:
Not really. The issue hasn't really come up, and I haven't really spent any time on that.

535

MR. ADAMS:
Would you agree with me that, at least, some of these techniques are not well‑suited for statistical significance testing, in terms of the results?

536

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I don't think I'm equally familiar with all the techniques, so I really can't answer that. I wouldn't be surprised, but ‑‑ it would seem to me, for example, that the Euclidean distance method lends itself particularly well, but I'm not sure about some of the other methods.

537

MR. ADAMS:
Do you have ‑‑ can I just turn you to page 38 of your evidence, that is, Exhibit B.10?

538

DR. LOWRY:
Okay.

539

MR. ADAMS:
Your point number 2 starts with the following sentence:

540

"Statistical clustering analysis helps to identify cohorts with relatively similar business conditions, but will not necessarily produce cohorts with sufficiently similar conditions."

541

Can you explain this statement, or assist us in understanding what ‑‑ your intent here?

542

DR. LOWRY:
Yes. Well, supposing the goal is to find four clusters that have ‑‑ that group together the companies with the most similar business conditions possible. And let's just imagine, hypothetically, that statistical clustering analysis will find those four clumped cohorts. This isn't to say that the similarity is good enough to draw conclusions about operating efficiency. I mean, we could somehow imagine a role in which the utilities were fantastically different one from the next, where ‑‑ you know, you could easily imagine that being true. Maybe there's, you know, 20 different profoundly different types of enterprises, and there's only four cohorts. It might be hard to bridge that. That isn't the case here, but just the same, conceptually, you can imagine how the best cohorts may not be good enough to provide very good information about operating efficiency.

543

MR. ADAMS:
I'd like to follow up on a line of questions that Mr. Shepherd developed with you, when he was discussing with you approaches for dealing with capital expenses, and the separation of operations costs, and identification of operations costs, taking into account issues like capitalization of operations expenses. And let me just ask you to remember that discussion, and provide us with your view to a question similar to one of the lines of questioning developed by the Chair at the conclusion of yesterday's testimony by Mr. Camfield.

544

If you recollect, when the Chair was turning to the practical problem of this handbook, and saying, What should we say in the handbook with respect to various proposals that Mr. Camfield was developing? And my question to you, sir, is: When you were discussing with Mr. Shepherd, you proposed certain treatment with respect to cleaning up the data for operating‑cost analysis purposes. How would you present that ‑‑ those recommendations for potential inclusion in the handbook?

545

DR. LOWRY:
Well, that would be pretty hard to ‑‑ I'd really have to think through that, how ‑‑ because that gets into ‑‑ I mean, this is an issue that Mr. Camfield would face in writing up something for the handbook. I mean, he can sit down and dash off the general outline of what he's purposing to do. That's not so hard, it's just ‑‑ that would be very general and leave many uncertainties as to how it would finally be done. You wouldn't really learn much more than you have today. It would almost be a reorganization of the paragraphs. And yet, do you want to nail him down too much right now, in terms of how it's actually done, by saying, Here it is, exactly how it's going to be done. It is a difficult issue.

546

But one thing is for sure, one way or another, the rates handbook should address the challenge of partial‑cost benchmarking, that is, that that is going to be addressed in some way. As we have discussed, one way is the ‑‑ is to try the inclusion of these variables that recommend capital‑use considerations. But, I mean, in terms of saying how the rates handbook should write it up, that's ‑‑ I don't know.

547

MR. ADAMS:
In a similar vein, trying to get at some of the practical applications of these concepts, you, in previous testimony, discussed your support for the inclusion of SQIs in the analysis. Do you have any recommendations on ‑‑ as to how that would be done, again, for the purposes of the handbook?

548

DR. LOWRY:
Well, it could be ‑ and here again, I'm just thinking not much more than out loud, because it really would take some thought ‑ but that the handbook mention a list of variables that will be considered in the econometric work. Not to say that they'll be in the model, because we don't know how the data will ‑‑ how the econometric work will go.

549

And in that list, which is already pretty well worked out now, with a few exceptions ‑‑ it would include service‑quality measures. But if it's going to have service‑quality measures, as I said before, it should also include those with regard to customer service, and not just the distribution side, because I have a feeling that there could be quite a bit of difference in the quality of services ‑‑ customer services that the various companies provide. It's a good way for ‑‑ it's a good place for a small utility to cut a corner on.

550

MR. ADAMS:
You've also discussed with some of the other questioners your interest in inclusion of age variables, and you've discussed some proxies for age of assets to attempt some analysis. In some previous filings before the Board, Energy Probe has identified the filing of data for distribution stations, overhead and underhand ‑‑ overhead and underground lines and distribution transformers. And it appears that, at least for utilities filing this data in a previous case, these accounts represent 80 percent of the total assets. And there appears to be some data ‑‑ age data available for these. Would it be ‑‑ just accepting that, and looking at this as a kind of hypothetical, might this be a place to start to develop a proxy age variable to assist?

551

DR. LOWRY:
That's one ‑‑ I think that's one set of data that should be considered, yes. I played around with that in the past and was surprised I didn't get the results I wanted, but that could have been specific to the sample I was working on. So yes, I think they ought to look at ‑‑ say if you're talking about average system age‑type variables, if there is such a thing, I think they should be tried.

552

MR. ADAMS:
You've expressed a general support for index benchmarking, but one aspect of previous discussions that I haven't heard you express a view on is your view as to how index benchmarking might be used to identify outliers. Do you have any advice in that area?

553

DR. LOWRY:
Well, as I said, for almost every benchmarking method, you can devise hypothesis tests that could be used to identify outliers, and I think they could be devised for these approaches as well. I'm thinking here more at that comparator level. Mr. Camfield has also proposed this additional level of statistics called cost ‑‑ I guess he really means call them cost indicators. I'm not saying ‑‑ I'm not even sure how those are to be used or why he thought those would also be useful, but I suppose, in theory, for any of these you could have, in theory, some sort of hypothesis. That would take some work though. It's never been done before, that I know of.

554

MR. ADAMS:
Would you recommend regressing indexes against cost drivers to look for coefficients?

555

DR. LOWRY:
Well, as said before, there is very little precedent for doing that and there's a real problem there with properly capturing the impact of output.

556

MR. ADAMS:
In your comments in your evidence in‑chief, you recommended PBR as an approach to identifying just and reasonable rates. Of course, in the circumstances the Board is faced with right now, and the parties here, PBR is not an option. You also, in other questions, recommended a stem‑to‑stern assessment of costs in a cost‑of‑service analysis, and again, I suggest to you, sir, that that, because of the timing issues and the other demands on the Board's time, is also not an available option.

557

DR. LOWRY:
Are you saying, sir, that it's not available for anyone?

558

MR. ADAMS:
For the full course of the utilities and the responsibilities that this Board faces with regard to 2006 rates.

559

DR. LOWRY:
But for any utility, you don't think there's time to do a proper rate case?

560

MR. ADAMS:
Well, the Board has said that they're going to pursue this handbook approach and that ‑‑ my understanding is that there is a hope that the number of cases that they have to undertake is relatively limited.

561

So I'm back to this practical question of what do we put in the handbook. You've expressed some support, in general, for indexing. Is there something that goes in the handbook that reflects your advice that you would propose on how utilities are to provide the information to generate the index benchmarks?

562

DR. LOWRY:
Well, again, Mr. Adams, I mean it's just kind of hard for me to think on the witness stand as to how a portion of the rate handbook should be written. But I do think that what is written should reflect the results of this proceeding and not be as general as what Mr. Camfield originally proposed. That we've all learned something from talking to each other here, and somehow it should be reflected in that writing. And it would be a little difficult to decide how to indicate what's been learned without tying the consultant's hands unduly, but that's the trick you'll have to play, if indeed the handbook has to be written before the job is done.

563

MR. ADAMS:
Another comment you made in your testimony was that having used benchmarking techniques for screening purposes, once a utility finds itself identified for closer scrutiny and goes before the Board, I understood you to have recommended that the screening results be thrown out, not considered at the time that the cost‑of‑service review or more detailed scrutiny is applied. Did I understand that correctly?

564

DR. LOWRY:
Well, if they're not thrown out, then it's not my idea of screening; it's screening plus. I think it's really taking a bigger step towards using benchmarking in direct disallowance of costs ‑‑ eventually in direct disallowance of costs.

565

MR. ADAMS:
By recommending throwing it out, it sounds like you're inviting the Board to dispose of information that they might otherwise inform themselves with in considering the full scope of the question of what are appropriate costs.

566

DR. LOWRY:
Well, again, I'll say that, on the other hand, doing it differently than that, you're not really using it just as a screening tool, which the Board has cited several times is what this is all about.

567

MR. ADAMS:
You've heaped many criticisms on the approach taken by the regulator in the UK, it's Energy Probe's observation in its evidence that one of the approaches utilized in the UK is to attempt multiple alternate forms of analysis to get a better understanding of what are efficient costs. Are you generally supportive of the idea of using multiple analytic approaches to understanding efficient costs, or would you argue against that recommendation?

568

DR. LOWRY:
Well, for one thing, just to correct the record, I don't think that was what was done in England. The OFGEM retained a consultant to do a think‑piece for it. It would almost be like what Mr. Camfield has done thus far, as compared to what he might do later on. And that think piece threw out a lot of ideas, doubtless the consultant would have been happy to retained to implement all of those ideas. In fact, though, the ‑‑ after that report was filed, the consultant was not further used, and they only used one method. So I don't know that it's obvious that multiple methods ‑‑ to play around with multiple methods is a good idea in this case.

569

MR. ADAMS:
Finally, again, just a reflection of some previous comments you made. You expressed some concern about multicollinearity entering into the analysis and disturbing the quality of the results. Can I ‑‑ yet in page 37 of your evidence, one of your recommendations is that no variable should be excluded from the model that is a plausible cost driver and has a statistically significant and sensibly assigned coefficient. Just on the face of it, would you agree with me that if we just keep throwing additional variables in, that could give rise to multicollinearity problems, that this recommendation that we find on page 37 has to be interpreted in concert with your recommendations with regard to due consideration of multicollinearity.

570

DR. LOWRY:
Well, yes. What happens with multicollinearity is you try to, let's say outputs has four dimensions and you put in all four output variables that might capture those dimensions. Then maybe not all are going to come in with a correct sign to be statistically significant. Lots of times ‑‑ the symptom of the multicollinearity will be that some of the variables are insignificant, and very often they could have the incorrect sign as well. In other words, output variables, you always take the larger of the operating scale, the higher the costs, the lesser the negative sign, then there's probably something wrong, and it may well have something to do with multicollinearity.

571

What I'm saying here, Mr. Adams, is you do the best you can. You will find ‑‑ you know, if you're lucky, you can get two or three output variables to be identified. If you're ‑‑ in the worst case, you'll only get one to be identified. But you, kind of, have to go with the ‑‑ you don't have much choice but to go with what the data tell you.

572

And you just ‑‑ but the important thing is just to try to get the richest output specification that you can. So don't satisfy yourself if you just have one output variable, try to get two or three in, as long as they have plausible signs. And plausible ‑‑ and are statistically significant. It all depends on the data set. The smaller the data set, the harder it is to get multiple output variables to come in. But, with any luck, you could get two ‑‑ at least two dimensions of output captured in a model here.

573

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you.

574

Mr. Chair, those are my questions.

575

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Adams.

576

Before we turn to Board counsel, are there any other parties that wish to question this witness?

577

Ms. Lea?

578

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:

579

MS. LEA:
Thank you, sir.

580

Good afternoon, Mr. Lowry. Thank you very much for your helpful piece of evidence and your testimony today, as you say, moving us forward towards a methodology.

581

I have a few practical things to ask you about. Have you had an opportunity to look at Exhibit D.6.3, which is the C&C utility filing information which Mr. Camfield filed yesterday?

582

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, I've had a chance to look at it. I mean, I can't say that I can give you a definitive appraisal of it in the short time I've seen it, but I have looked at it, yes.

583

MS. LEA:
Okay. I have a few questions related to it, sir, but, if you can't answer, that's fine.

584

I was wondering if there are any items ‑‑ you see that, on the left‑hand side column, Mr. Camfield has marked with an X those items that he believes to be essential in completing the sort of analysis that he has described to us.

585

Are there any items here marked with an X that you believe are, in fact, unnecessary? And, if you haven't had time to review the document sufficiently, you can tell me so, and ‑‑

586

DR. LOWRY:
I would say that ‑‑ well, taking note of the fact that he has asked for this decomposition on customer costs into billings and collection and customer service, which I warn against, but that doesn't mean that you shouldn't ‑‑ I mean, I suppose a case could be made for starting to collect it, and seeing, for example, if I'm right, that it's hard to do that ‑‑ it's hard to make that breakdown. You can prove for yourself by trying it. You could always add them up again.

587

I noticed some small things, like asking for wages and salaries separately ‑ I've never heard of that ‑ as compared to just wages and salaries.

588

MS. LEA:
It may be, sir ‑ and neither of us would, perhaps, know this ‑ that that's the way it happens to be reported now by the utilities.

589

DR. LOWRY:
I noticed that he's not asking for retirements. And that seems to suggest that he's interested in doing the geometric decay approach to capital costing, the equations for which are in the appendix to my evidence. And so, if you want to look at how complicated it is, just take a look there.

590

MS. LEA:
Well, my question, sir, was related, really, to the sort of evidence that we were collecting. So are there things that are not listed on this list, or marked with an X, that you believe are necessary to ask the utilities to produce?

591

DR. LOWRY:
I can ‑‑ here, again, I can make a few comments, but it wouldn't necessarily be an exhaustive list.

592

MS. LEA:
That's fine.

593

DR. LOWRY:
First of all, one thing that is less of a problem is that he didn't make mention of these various service‑quality measures, which, apparently, are already being collected. I don't know if they are being standardized as much as a gentleman like Carm would want, who is an expert on these sorts of things, but I would say those should be fair game for the regression work, even if they don't need to be collected de novo. And again, customer‑service measures as well as the reliability measures are fair game there.

594

Now, in terms of variables that aren't in here, some of the ones that occurred to me came out of the transition cost proceeding. And, in general, there's so little here about the customer service side of things. Does a company, for example, have electronic transactions capability, I would think, is relevant. Something to the effect of how many retail competition customers they actually have. Do they serve embedded LDCs, would be another suggestion. And one other thing I might mention is that, as I say in my testimony, if you're trying to get this measure of the system extensiveness ‑ and here we are in a province where, you know, you have the utilities serving densely‑populated Toronto, all the way up to areas where it's just a handful of customers per square kilometer ‑ you really want to try to get a good system‑extensiveness measure.

595

And for that purpose, you might want to use the structure miles rather than the pole miles, the circuit miles. Circuit miles is going to give Toronto Hydro credit for zillions of circuits in one mile across downtown Toronto. And that's fine. I mean, you should collect that. But, you know, a structure mile will just be, say, how many miles of conduit there are in Toronto, and not how many circuits in that conduit. And I think that, you know, you would want to be trying both of those variables, to see which one has the most explanatory power.

596

MS. LEA:
Thank you, sir. And do you know if the ‑‑ for instance, the idea of structure miles ‑‑ do you know whether the utilities actually collect or maintain that data now, in Ontario?

597

DR. LOWRY:
No, I don't know that for sure. I'm just guessing that isn't that hard to calculate, but I don't know.

598

MS. LEA:
Thank you. And you would agree, I think, with Mr. Camfield that we also have to be conscious of the burden placed on utilities by the requirements of these data?

599

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

600

MS. LEA:
With respect to the data, then, sir, we've heard a lot about the difficulties or incompleteness or inaccuracies of it. I imagine you would agree that it's of importance, then, that the LDCs in Ontario maintain good accounting records, to enable this sort of analysis to be done.

601

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, and, as Mr. Kaiser was suggesting yesterday, and this is ‑‑ you know, it's ‑‑ thinking about ways to upgrade instructions for data collection, and all the while ‑‑ particularly now that you know that they're being used for benchmarking, revisiting the construction manual would be a great idea, trying to make sure it's as clear as possible on the things that matter for benchmarking. Because, when it was originally designed, I'm sure they weren't thinking much about benchmarking.

602

MS. LEA:
In your experience, sir, is there a format or a certain list of data requirements ‑ for example, the uniform system of accounts ‑ that you believe the Board should consider or recommend for the way that you ‑‑ the utilities keep their accounts?

603

DR. LOWRY:
Well, apart from the uniform system of accounts, which, as I've said before, is very outdated, and could easily be improved upon, you might want to look at a couple of other jurisdictions around the world to see what they're doing.

604

MS. LEA:
Any one ‑‑ any in mind, in particular?

605

DR. LOWRY:
Yes. I would say New South Wales and Victoria in Australia, and maybe England ‑ I'm really not sure about that one ‑ but yes, I believe England would be worth looking at.

606

MS. LEA:
Thank you. We were ‑‑ you heard me yesterday ask about the utilities that outsource most of their operations, or some of their functions. Could an indicator or binary variable be used in the absence, this year at least, of suitable qualitative ‑‑ quantitative variables to account for these virtual utilities or outsourcing of certain operations?

607

DR. LOWRY:
You see, I'm of the opinion that you don't give them special treatment. That's a decision that they made, and they need to be judged on the standard of, Well, how did the costs come in? And they don't get a dummy for having done that. You might throw them in to the occasional run to see if they're suggesting that they typically are higher cost. But let's suppose that's what happens, and you find out, Oh, there's this new variable that says that they have 10 percent higher costs. Well, you obviously don't want to give them a break for that. On the contrary.

608

MS. LEA:
One moment.

609

Now, you have remarked ‑‑ we've talked extensively during the last two days about the measurement of capital. And you suggested today that a longer series of data, going back more years, would be of assistance; is that correct?

610

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, and if you're going to have these adjuster variables, they should go back further than 10 years, the ones that Mr. Camfield was thinking about. It would be nice to have them go back 20 or 30 years.

611

MS. LEA:
Do you recall yesterday, and it may not have been a piece of evidence that was highlighted, it's at paragraph 622 and 623 of the record. I don't think you need to look it up, I'll read it to you. Mr. Camfield indicates that:

612

"It's come to my attention of a data set of the investment and capital accounting records reaching way back for all of the LDCs in Ontario. It's my hope that we can draw upon this."

613

He doesn't specify what "way back" is, but considering that people are asking him about 10 years immediately preceding that question, one presumes it's more extensive. Would that be the sort of thing that you would recommend we consider?

614

DR. LOWRY:
I'm not sure what you're talking about, but from what you've said, of course it should be considered.

615

MS. LEA:
All right.

616

DR. LOWRY:
I've no idea if it's adequate or what it is.

617

MS. LEA:
Thank you. Another problem that we talked about as a possibility of excluding the consideration of capital, would one difficulty with that proposal be that the Board might inadvertently incent LDCs to overutilize capital, as it would be less subject to regulatory scrutiny than operating expenses, and this would lead to a less than optimal mix of capital and operating uses?

618

DR. LOWRY:
Well, I have a couple of comments about that. One is that the Board should be reminded that they have several instruments available to create incentives. It's not just ‑‑ certainly not just benchmarking that's creating incentives here. For example, a great way to make utilities stingy about capital investments is to put them under a five‑year price cap plan, because they'll think of a lot of imaginative ways to postpone a new plan in a case like that. So there's more than one lever there.

619

Now, another issue is that if you think about the kinds of the system‑age variables that we've been throwing around here, they do have some incentive properties. After all, if you put off replacing certain equipment, you're going to get an older system‑age variable that gives you a break on your OpEx analysis. And I guess I've never really studied whether that completely satisfies the incentive problem, but it is worth mentioning.

620

A final comment I'd have is that if you're worried about incentives at all, this is where ‑‑ you know, in other words, if you're worried about or interested in the incentives that a benchmarking plan provides, don't forget about the upside. That you can further strengthen the incentives by giving companies a chance for rewards for superior performance, and that is one of the innovations that OFGEM has instituted in this newest price control update, that the top performers actually get to earn superior returns.

621

MS. LEA:
Thank you. There was one remark in your report, at page 28, that caught my eye. And it's, I don't think, something we've discussed so far. You indicate at page 28 that the number of gas customers served in an electric utility's service area can also be a statistically significant cost driver. Can you just, from your experience, explain how that affects utility LDC costs, electricity costs, the number of gas customers, sir.

622

DR. LOWRY:
Well, sure, because there's all these opportunities for what they call economies of scope, where you're sharing inputs. If a meter reader is out reading an electric meter, why couldn't he read the gas meter? If you've got a billing operation going and you're sending out a bill for electric service, why couldn't it collect for the gas service too? And so in the States, of course, there's many, many combined gas and electric utilities. There aren't here in Ontario, so it's obviously not going to be a variable that you're going to use here. But if you were doing any kind of comparisons across the border, you would want to have a variable like that.

623

MS. LEA:
Thank you. I think I understand, but it does presume synergies between the two ‑‑

624

DR. LOWRY:
There's one place where there are synergies, there's no questions about that. That's been quantified again and again. And vice versa, in a gas efficiency study, that the number of electric customers served is statistically significant, yes. It's not a speculative area of synergies.

625

MS. LEA:
Thank you. At pages 20 and 21 of your report, you express concern about the possible degradation of quality of regulatory decisions as a result of benchmarking exercises. How would we know if the quality of our decisions was going down hill?

626

DR. LOWRY:
It would be hard, and that's part of the problem. Because you could be seduced by the economies of the procedure, and who is really to know for sure if you are doing a proper job. Now, an outsider could look at what's happened in Britain and say, Oh my gosh. I can't believe they did this and I can't believe they did that. So it is ‑‑ it could be apparent, and then again it might not be.

627

One of the funny things about benchmarking, I've often remarked to myself, particularly from my work in England, is the companies don't complain about it as much as you might think. And if you think about the economics of it, there is a reason for that. Some companies are going to be superior performers, and some are going to be average, and some are going to be bad. Well, the superior performers aren't going to say anything about how the study was done, now are they? And then there's the average performers, and maybe it's just not worth their while to pick a fight about that. So that leaves only the ones that had bad appraisals, and the commission can easily dismiss them as complaining. So it somehow can create the illusion that the utilities are happy about it, but when you think about it, there really isn't much evidence to that effect.

628

MS. LEA:
Okay. Having heard what you said in the sum total of your evidence, I gather that your concern about any problems with utility ‑‑ rather, decision making by this Board is greatly mitigated by the fact that we're only going to use these comparators and cohorts, if at all, as a screening tool, and that we will be using them as a springboard for more information not less; would that be true?

629

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

630

MS. LEA:
Thank you. Those are my questions, sir.

631

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

632

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

633

QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

634

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Briefly, Dr. Lowry, as I understand your evidence, you're not suggesting that the Board ought not to pursue this initiative; is that correct?

635

DR. LOWRY:
That's correct. I think that some sort of benchmarking is worth a try.

636

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
And the caution that you urge, which I think is shared by many here, is somewhat mitigated by the idea of the mid‑course corrections that Mr. Camfield spoke of yesterday.

637

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

638

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
In questions from Mr. Shepherd, I think you alluded to a number of your clients who were engaging in benchmarking of their own. In some instances, across different jurisdictions to try to get a feel for their relative costs to analogous organizations, presumably. The same cautions, I presume, would apply in the application of that kind of benchmarking. You wouldn't be suggesting that those companies ought to be relying on that exercise entirely, but that it's a useful and informative exercise for them to engage in; is that right?

639

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

640

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Thank you very much. Those are my questions.

641

MR. KAISER:
Dr. Lowry, just two questions. You mentioned at the end that the Board, any board, ought to be careful and mindful about being seduced by the economies of the procedure. You also said in your evidence that there are at least two companies here, Hydro One and Toronto Hydro that aren't likely going to fall in any group, so the comparison and cohorts procedure with respect to those two may be of limited value; is that true? Do I have it accurately?

642

DR. LOWRY:
Yes.

643

MR. KAISER:
So with respect to those two companies at least we, to use your language, should get on with it and conduct a proper and thorough, as you said, stem‑to‑stern rate case.

644

DR. LOWRY:
That would seem to be a sensible approach.

645

MR. KAISER:
Now, the one thing we do have that's concrete in the ‑‑ or hopefully will be concrete in the rate book, in the handbook is chapter 14.2, section 14.2, the filing requirements, and you've just discussed that with Ms. Lea. And we have Exhibit 6.3, which you ‑‑ I realize you have had limited time to look at, it was just filed when the evidence went in, but given that you're probably one of the leading experts in the world, I'd ask you if, through your counsel, you could file your version of 6.3 so that we might have clear on the record the information that, if you were doing this job, if you were advising the Board, this would be the information that you would suggest that the utilities would file. Is that possible, Mr. Rogers? I know it's a little additional work.

646

MR. ROGERS:
No, that's fine, Mr. Chair. No, of course we'll cooperate to try to provide what you're after. My only concern is that, and I haven't really ‑‑

647

MR. KAISER:
I'm not asking for it today.

648

MR. ROGERS:
Well, but Dr. Lowry may have a whole different approach, but ‑‑ and, therefore, require different data. But, assuming the approach laid out by Mr. Camfield is to be followed, what data would he suggest be included?

649

MR. KAISER:
Well, that's one part of it. But, if it turns out that he's saying, you know, There's no point going down that track, here's the information that I would request, I want his opinion.

650

MR. ROGERS:
All right.

651

Dr. Lowry, I think we can try to do that?

652

DR. LOWRY:
Yes, sir.

653

MR. KAISER:
Take whatever time ‑‑ we'll reserve an undertaking number for it.

654

MS. LEA:
Yes, that would be Undertaking E.7.1.

655

UNDERTAKING NO. E.7.1:
FOR DR. LOWRY TO PROVIDE HIS VERSION OF EXHIBIT D.3.6

656

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Dr. Lowry

657

Ms. Lea?

658

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

659

I'm not sure if Mr. Rogers had any re‑examination.

660

MR. ROGERS:
No, I don't. Thank you. I would have spoken up.

661

MS. LEA:
I knew you would. Thank you very much, sir.

662

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


663

MS. LEA:
Now, Mr. Chair, there was some discussion among counsel at the break as to the time that it would take to do the two witnesses scheduled, originally, for today. We had originally scheduled Mr. Adams for Energy Probe and Mr. White. There are one or two counsel here who ‑‑ involved in the examination of Mr. White who are not able to return next week. And so the request has been made that we move Mr. White up the queue and hear from him now. And I spoke to Mr. Adams, and he has very graciously agreed to be bumped. And I believe that he is requesting to ‑‑ a date certain on Thursday, February 3rd.

664

Is that acceptable to you, Mr. Adams?

665

MR. ADAMS:
Yes.

666

MS. LEA:
And I also spoke briefly to Mr. Gibbons, but I think we can probably still keep him on the 2nd. He's been bumped once already, so ‑‑

667

MR. KAISER:
He doesn't want to come here again.

668

MS. LEA:
‑‑ we'll try to keep him on the 2nd. So, if that ‑‑

669

MR. KAISER:
Mr. White, are you prepared to proceed today?

670

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

671

MS. LEA:
So, if it please you, sir, then, I just ‑‑ I need to take just a couple of minutes to have a change of the guard here. We can do that in a moment or so.

672

MR. KAISER:
We'll have five minutes.

673

MS. LEA:
Okay. Thank you.

674

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 1:50 p.m.

675

‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:58 p.m.

676

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

677

Please proceed.

678

MR. STEVENS:
Good afternoon. Mr. Chair, Panel Members, my name is David Stevens, and I'm here assisting Mr. White from ECMI this afternoon.

679

I understand that Mr. White was sworn earlier in the proceedings, on January 18th, so I'm not sure whether you wish for him to be sworn again or not.

680

Is that better?

681

MR. KAISER:
Mr. White, you are still under oath, you understand that?

682

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

683

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

684

MR. STEVENS:
Mr. Chair, although the written evidence of ECMI has already been filed as an exhibit in this matter, as Exhibit C.4, we prepared a brief compendium of materials that I left with Board counsel earlier today. It simply includes Mr. White's evidence, as well as an excerpt from the draft handbook, which I understand is Exhibit 8.2, and an excerpt from the Board Staff's paper, which I understand is C.1. But I thought it might just be easier, for following along.

685

MR. KAISER:
That's fine.

686

We'll mark that, Mr. Millar.

687

MR. MILLAR:
That would be Exhibit D.7.2.

688

EXHIBIT NO. D.7.2:
COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS IN SUPPORT OF TESTIMONY OF MR. WHITE

689

MR. KAISER:
I appreciate you doing this, Mr. Stevens. It always makes it easier to follow.

690

ECMI PANEL 1 ‑ WHITE:


691

R.WHITE; Previously Sworn.

692

EXAMINATION BY MR. STEVENS:

693

MR. STEVENS:
Mr. White, I understand that you are the president and a principal of ECMI?

694

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

695

MR. STEVENS:
Can you tell us a little bit more about your firm, please.

696

MR. WHITE:
We're a small firm which serves about 10 percent of the local distribution companies in the province. And we have also served individual industrial customers, in terms of their dealings with utilities on matters of interest.

697

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you. And who is ECMI representing in this proceeding?

698

MR. WHITE:
ECMI, as part of this process, is representing Brant County Power, Collus, Clinton, Gravenhurst, Haldimand County Power, Hearst, St. Thomas, Peninsula West Utilities and Wasaga Beach.

699

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you. Could I please ask you to turn to your evidence, which has already been filed, as I understand, as Exhibit C.4, and is found behind tab 1 of the brief of materials.

700

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

701

MR. STEVENS:
What was your involvement in the preparation of that evidence?

702

MR. WHITE:
I prepared that evidence, and had some discussions with some of my clients in the preparation of that evidence.

703

MR. STEVENS:
And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of your testimony today?

704

MR. WHITE:
Yes, I do.

705

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you. Now, attached to that evidence, starting at page 14 towards the back, is your curriculum vitae.

706

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

707

MR. STEVENS:
Mr. Chair, we're asking today that, in the context of Mr. White's experience in engineering matters, and in electricity and regulation and rate design, that Mr. White be qualified to provide his opinion on the potential use of incentives to address electricity system losses.

708

So, if the Board thinks it appropriate, I propose to ask Mr. White a few questions about his experience.

709

MR. KAISER:
Go ahead.

710

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you.

711

Mr. White, have you previously been qualified as an expert to give opinion evidence before this Board?

712

MR. WHITE:
Yes, I have, and that was in the matter related to the compromise reached with Rogers Cable, as part of this hearing process.

713

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you. And, if I could just briefly look at your CV, Mr. White, I understand you graduated with a Bachelor's of Applied Science from the University of Windsor, in 1972, with a degree in electrical engineering.

714

MR. WHITE:
That's correct.

715

MR. STEVENS:
And you were designated a professional engineer in 1975?

716

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

717

MR. STEVENS:
And you're a member of the Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario?

718

MR. WHITE:
Yes, I am.

719

MR. STEVENS:
And I see here that, beginning in 1976, through to 1993, you were employed with the Ontario Hydro entity, as it then was, and worked out of its head office. Can you tell us about some of the areas you worked in, that are relevant to your testimony for today?

720

MR. WHITE:
Actually, some of my experience with Ontario Hydro which is relevant pre‑dates that period, because I was dealing with smaller, medium and what would some would describe as large utilities, in preparing their rate applications, when I was in Niagara Region in Hamilton. And that involved the ‑‑ part of that preparation involved the consideration of the losses within the utility, and how that might influence, in particular, rate application.

721

When I went into the head office environment, I was involved in ‑‑ initially, with other superintendents, in the establishment of regulatory policy, and later, was involved and had direct responsibility for issuing the rate‑setting guidelines, and direct responsibility for leading the team and responsible for the content of the development of regulatory software.

722

When I was a superintendent dealing with the regulatory matters, we had discussions with the Ontario Energy Board secretary during the time of wage and price controls were introduced within Ontario. Because there was an effort to ensure that, to the extent practicable, the approach we used in regulating the investor‑owned companies, which we had responsibility for regulating, was consistent with an approach which would be used by the Ontario Energy Board in consideration of the gas industry.

723

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you. And I understand that, since 1993, when you left Ontario Hydro, you've worked with your own company and with ECMI. Can you give us a brief understanding of the roles you've played in that respect, on behalf of distribution entities and others, that are relevant for your testimony today?

724

MR. WHITE:
We have been involved in the preparation of many of the RUD and RAM applications that have come before this Board, for our clients. And we continue to supply support for them in the broad basket of regulatory matters, including involvement through the working group process in preparation of the EDR 2006 process.

725

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you, Mr. White.

726

Mr. Chair, we offer Mr. White as a witness with engineering expertise and extensive distribution rate and rate‑design expertise. And we request that he be permitted to give opinion evidence about the potential use of incentives to address electricity system losses.

727

MR. KAISER:
That's fine, Mr. Stevens.

728

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you, Mr. Chair. With your indulgence, we have some brief direct evidence today, in order to highlight the key parts of ECMI's evidence.

729

Mr. White, could I please ask you to turn to page 3 of your pre‑filed evidence.

730

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

731

MR. STEVENS:
Which is titled "Introduction". Could you please tell me what you were referring to when you discussed losses in the electricity system in this evidence?

732

MR. WHITE:
Losses in the electricity business are primarily of two types. There is the fixed losses, which come from having an electrical system energized, and they are ‑‑ and then there are the variable components which result from, if you will, pushing electricity through the system to deliver it to end‑use customers. It's quite different from the gas industry in that respect because the compression stations generally do not use natural gas to push the gas through to end‑use customers, where in the electricity business, that largely accounts for a significant component, a variable component.

733

MR. STEVENS:
And I note that on this page, page 3 and the following page of your evidence, you describe the considerations that affect the amount of system losses. Could you please describe for the Panel the primary factors or circumstances that you believe affect or impact upon the magnitude of system losses.

734

MR. WHITE:
One of the key factors is the distance that the load is from the transmission point or the delivery point to the utility. Theft of power and energy is a relatively small component, but it is also a component that contributes to losses and unaccounted for energy, which is the more full and proper name for the category. Normal meter error also contributes to the amount of unaccounted‑for energy that may be lost in the system, and by that I mean the meters used on retail customers have a tolerance up to 2 percent in the current marketplace. So that level of error is considered to be acceptable within Industry Canada standards.

735

It's interesting to note that as existing meters get older, the older dual‑type meters would tend to run more slowly and record less energy than the ‑‑ than is actually consumed at the end‑use customer's premise because of the friction component associated with the meter.

736

Also, as I described earlier, the amount of energy used to energize the system, and by that we mean when voltage is supplied to a system, when you have an alternating current supply. There is a micro current that flows through the system to energize the lines and energize the transformers and make power available at the end‑use customer's premises, whether or not the energy is used, any energy is used.

737

Also, the voltage of the system will materially affect the losses. Losses are a function of the current amperage and time, the energy losses, and as such, the higher the voltage, the smaller the current required to deliver the same amount of power and energy.

738

Density of the service area will also affect the amount of energy that's required. And again, because of the I2R function in terms of the use of energy in, if you will, transporting the power and energy from the delivery point to the end‑use customer is a significantly variable component in the losses.

739

When people look at electric utility losses, they see a loss factor which implies a consistent level of losses, but, in fact, losses vary on an hour‑by‑hour basis. In fact, when the system demand is highest, say, in an air‑conditioning period when the wires are hotter, for a utility that might have average losses of 5 percent, their losses during that time period may be 10 percent, or 12 percent, or even higher, depending upon the degree of load on the particular components of the distribution system.

740

In a similar way, if you had a small customer located at the end of a long line extension that used very little energy, the fixed component of the losses for that customer might be 100 percent or 200 percent of the energy the customer used, if the customer was truly using a small amount energy.

741

MR. STEVENS:
And of these factors or considerations, which of them are controllable by the LDC or the distributor?

742

MR. WHITE:
Many of them are not controllable, in part, because of the statutory duty of the utilities to supply; that if a customer comes along, regardless of whether they will become a high‑loss customer because of where they're connected or a low‑loss customer because of where they're connected, this statutory duty to supply means that the utility has very little control over that aspect. The size of the wires, the type of the wires, to some extent the type of transformer that's involved, these are the types of things that a utility typically has control over, but ultimately, distributors are demand‑takers. In other words, if a customer turns the light switch on or the air conditioner on, then the utility system will deliver the power and energy the customer is asking for, wherever they happen to be located on the system.

743

MR. STEVENS:
And why is it important to recognize that some of these factors are not within the distributor's control?

744

MR. WHITE:
Part of ECMI's position in this matter is driven by the fact that we don't feel it's consistent with the Board's past practice, nor should it be a goal of the Board, that utilities win or lose by virtue of accident, or items largely and materially beyond their control. And from that perspective, it's important that the Panel Members understand that a lot of the aspects of energy losses on the distribution system are well beyond the control of any utility. Certainly over the short term, virtually all of them are beyond control of the utility.

745

MR. STEVENS:
And how does the point that you're making now relate to ‑‑ you have attached a couple of numerical appendices to your paper.

746

MR. WHITE:
What I've done is I've used an actual live example, and that example is taking a large customer for a utility, which is a client of ECMI, and considering the large customer for the utility to be a low‑loss customer or alternatively, a high‑loss customer.

747

And what's considered in the scenarios that are put together is the loss of, first, a low‑loss customer, and then the loss of a high‑loss customer, and the bottom‑line calculation in each of the price scenarios, because different prices were considered for the commodity. If the losses were to become the responsibility of the utility, the change in losses were to become the responsibility of the utility, the adverse impact on the utility could be as high as 17 percent of the utility's deemed return on its equity component of the rate base. Similarly, if it were a relatively low‑loss customer, the impact could be to the benefit of the utility and could be as high, depending upon the price consideration, as 6.7 percent.

748

The second set of tables deals with the prospect of a merchant generator and its operation, and shows that ‑‑ is intended to show that, depending upon the addition or the loss of a merchant generator, that that can materially impact on the utility's losses incurred because of the existence of the merchant generator. Because it's embedded within the system, the amount of energy used to deliver the power and energy to end‑use customers when it is, in fact, embedded within those customers is generally smaller. Not always, though.

749

MR. STEVENS:
Could you please describe for us, Mr. White, how system losses is measured and what the existing regulatory framework is, right now, for measuring system losses?

750

MR. WHITE:
System losses are simply the difference between power and energy delivered from the transmission system ‑ excluding transformation‑connection losses, because they are considered part of the delivery‑system losses ‑ the difference between the power and energy delivered at that point and the power and energy delivered to the end‑use customers of the distributor. And that's how, in fact, the losses would be calculated. And that's consistent the concept behind the retail settlement ‑‑

751

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you. I'm sorry.

752

MR. WHITE:
‑‑ the concept contemplated in the retail settlement code.

753

MR. STEVENS:
Could I ask you, Mr. White, to please turn to the document that's behind tab 2 in front of you, which is the short excerpt from the January 10, 2005, draft electricity distribution rate handbook ‑‑

754

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

755

MR. STEVENS:
‑‑ specifically section 2.5 ‑‑ or 10.5, I'm sorry, which is titled "Update of Loss Adjustment Factor."

756

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

757

MR. STEVENS:
Could you please explain, Mr. White, how the two alternatives that are proposed in this portion of the draft handbook relate to the current regulatory framework.

758

MR. WHITE:
Alternative 1 in the rate handbook is, effectively, the status quo, which is a pass‑through of the difference between the losses which are included in the customers' bills and the actual losses which the utility incurs. This is ‑‑ what's different about the inclusion of it in the rate handbook is it provides for an update of those loss factors which were, for many utilities, established just pre‑market‑opening, and have not been adjusted since.

759

MR. STEVENS:
Is that ‑‑ that's the first of the two alternatives?

760

MR. WHITE:
That's the first of the two alternatives.

761

MR. STEVENS:
And how does the second alternative relate to the current framework?

762

MR. WHITE:
As I understand the second alternative, it is different, because it would require a forecast of what the losses would be. And, to the extent that the losses of the utility are in excess of that, or less than that, there would be no adjustment. But there would be an adjustment for the average cost of the commodity delivered within the utility, so that that would be used as a price adjustment, if my understanding of alternative 2 is correct.

763

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you, Mr. White.

764

Can I get you, please, to turn back to your evidence, and to page 2, right at the start of it.

765

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

766

MR. STEVENS:
At the beginning of your evidence, you set out four alternatives to be considered with respect to loss‑factor incentives.

767

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

768

MR. STEVENS:
Could you please explain for us what you mean by "loss‑factor incentives"?

769

MR. WHITE:
Loss‑factor incentives are, notionally, incentives that the Board might choose to put in place to incent distributors to reduce distribution‑system losses.

770

MR. STEVENS:
Could you please just briefly explain for us the four alternatives that you have set out and dealt with in your paper.

771

MR. WHITE:
Alternative 1 is, effectively, the status quo, and is consistent with alternative 1 in the distribution rate handbook, and, in fact, provides no direct incentives for the utilities to reduce or adjust losses.

772

The second alternative in my evidence was crafted before I, in fact, saw the final version of what ended up in the rate handbook, and assumes that the losses would be fixed at a specific cents‑per‑kilowatt‑hour basis. And, therefore, some of the specific attributes to which I assigned to alternative 2 would not apply to alternative 2 in the rate handbook.

773

Alternative 3 is an incentive based on the total‑resource‑cost test, and could be fashioned as a shared‑savings mechanism between the utility which undergoes loss‑reduction programs, and that that benefit would be shared with the customers.

774

Alternative 4 requires no specific incentive and probably produces the lowest regulatory risk. What it does provide for is an accelerated ‑‑ or an early recognition of investments made in loss‑reduction, independent of generic rebasing. So that the investment the utility makes in loss reduction could be recognized in the rate base, and in the rates, early rather than later.

775

The reason it reduces regulatory risk is because the worst‑case scenario is that the Board has recognized an actual investment made by the utility ahead of when it would otherwise, normally, have recognized it, in due course. So that we're not talking about money which the utility did or did not invest in the distribution system. We're talking about an investment they made, and just the timing of when it's recognized. So, from a regulatory perspective, and from a customer perspective, it produces very little risk.

776

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you. What led you to choose these four alternatives?

777

MR. WHITE:
Alternative 1 is the alternative 1 in the rate handbook. Alternative 2 was my understanding of what we expected to see as alternative 2 in part of the C&DM hearing process, which we're now involved in. Alternatives 3 and 4 are alternatives which don't rely on chance to provide an incentive to the utility but only on the direct actions by the utility.

778

MR. STEVENS:
And, of these four alternatives set out in your paper, which do you prefer? And why?

779

MR. WHITE:
Well, alternative 1 is certainly underpinning anything I would suggest. And alternative 4 could be used in conjunction with alternative 3, if the Board thought it was appropriate, although either alternative 4 or alternative 3 could be used independently. And from ECMI's perspective, either alternative 3 or alternative 4 do not increase the risk to the distributor.

780

MR. STEVENS:
At pages 5 and 6, I note that, at some length, you set out the reasons why you say the second alternative should not be considered. Can you just briefly describe why you come to that conclusion?

781

MR. WHITE:
Alternative 2, even based on my current understanding of it, would fix the volume of losses based on a forecast. And, as such, even with the price adjustment ‑ meaning that the price signal component might not be lost ‑ it would put the utility at risk for significant items beyond its direct control. You could find the utility in the situation where it had made significant investments in dollars, and planned to reduce its own distribution‑system losses, and, at the same time, because of customer actions in higher‑loss areas, there could have been ‑‑ there could readily be, actually, overall, an increase in the utility's losses, notwithstanding its best efforts to reduce losses.

782

Now, those best efforts to reduce losses have, in fact, reduced the losses. That loss reduction would have happened. The fact is that, because other customers may have increased losses elsewhere in the system, it means that the losses would have been even greater than what is finally realized had the utility not taken the loss reduction initiatives.

783

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you. And does the fact that the alternative that's in the draft rate handbook that relates to your second alternative change, does that affect your opinion that this alternative is not a viable one?

784

MR. WHITE:
It reduces the factor with respect to the price signal because I understand it would continue to use the present billing practice of including a loss factor, but what it does do is it ‑‑ it would put the utility at the same risk that I've already described, and not be ‑‑ not be as fair or equitable in dealing with the utility as, say, alternative 3 or 4, which are direct incentives or actions which can be identified, quantified and verified.

785

MR. STEVENS:
Before we finish, I just want to ask a couple of questions on this issue that's been filed by Board Staff.

786

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

787

MR. STEVENS:
In the paper that was prepared by Mr. Goulding of London Economics International, which I understand has been filed as Exhibit C.1 in this proceeding, there is a section entitled, "Loss Factor Incentive Mechanisms," found between pages 31 and 33. Have you read that portion of the Board Staff's evidence?

788

MR. WHITE:
Yes, I have.

789

MR. STEVENS:
At page 31 of that paper, Mr. Goulding refers to the fact that line‑loss levels in developing countries can be above 10 percent. Can you tell us what the typical distribution loss levels in Ontario are?

790

MR. WHITE:
Typical distribution loss factors in Ontario range from in the order of about 3.5 percent, to the best of my knowledge, universally below 10 percent.

791

MR. STEVENS:
At page 33 of his paper, Mr. Goulding states that it would be possible to develop a deemed loss factor for Ontario. Do you agree with that?

792

MR. WHITE:
I think it is possible to do it, but just because it's possible to do it doesn't make it correct.

793

MR. STEVENS:
In your opinion, would that be an advisable thing to do?

794

MR. WHITE:
Because of the evidence that I've already put on the record, I would strongly advise against a deemed loss factor to be applied in a broad fashion to a group of utilities, or to utilities in general, within Ontario.

795

MR. STEVENS:
Thank you. Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.

796

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Stevens.

797

Mr. Klippenstein.

798

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

799

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:

800

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Mr. Chair, I have also prepared a compendium of documents that Pollution Probe will propose to refer to in cross‑examination with this witness and other witnesses. And if it may be of use, I'll ‑‑

801

MR. KAISER:
Thank you. Mr. Millar.

802

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
I'll ask that it be, perhaps, made an exhibit and referred to.

803

MR. MILLAR:
That would be Exhibit D.7.3, Mr. Chair.

804

EXHIBIT NO. D.7.3:
POLLUTION PROBE COMPENDIUM FOR CROSS‑EXAMINATION

805

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
I believe, Mr. White, you have a copy of that document.

806

MR. WHITE:
Yes, I do, thank you.

807

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
I have extra copies for anybody who doesn't have them, but I believe I have connected with everybody.

808

Thank you for your evidence, Mr. White. I'd like to begin by asking you to turn to tab 6 of this Pollution Probe book.

809

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

810

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And the pages in the document book from Pollution Probe are numbered as well, so I may refer to those document pages or the pages of the actual document for the record, as the case may be.

811

So at tab 6, page 54 of the document book, we have an excerpt from the Ontario Energy Board annual report for 2003‑2004. Does that seem right to you?

812

MR. WHITE:
Yes, I have no reason to question that.

813

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. And the page we have excerpted there is page 19 of that report, and it shows in the chart two light bulb symbols in roughly the middle of the page. And if I look at the second light bulb, it appears to show that in 2002, Ontario's total end‑use electricity consumption was 514.1 petaJoules. And that appears just underneath the light bulb symbol. Do you see that?

814

MR. WHITE:
Yes, I do.

815

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And according to the information under the first light bulb on the other half of the page, Ontario's total end‑use and losses was 555.5 petaJoules. Is that right?

816

MR. WHITE:
That's the way it reads. Yes, sir.

817

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
According to this information, do you have any reason to doubt the accuracy of those two numbers?

818

MR. WHITE:
No, I do not.

819

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And when the number of 555.5 petaJoules is identified as the total number of end‑use and losses, that's equal to Ontario's total electricity generation; is that fair?

820

MR. WHITE:
It appears to be, yes. So it would include different than what are generally described as distribution system losses.

821

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Right. And so based on that, the total electricity generated in Ontario is 555.5 petaJoules, according to that.

822

MR. WHITE:
According to that, sir.

823

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
If you could turn to the next page in the handbook, which is page 55, we've supplied a box with some information arranged in a slightly different order, but information taken from this material I just read to you. And the first line is identified as "losses"; do you see that?

824

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

825

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And the second column shows subtraction of the two numbers I've just pointed out to you from the book, and it shows that the total transmission and distribution losses in 2002 would equal 41.4 petaJoules, based on the difference between the two numbers I just referred you to; is that fair?

826

MR. WHITE:
It appears to be, based on what's in this table.

827

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. And you don't have any reason to doubt, substantially, the accuracy of those numbers; is that fair?

828

MR. WHITE:
This table came from the same document?

829

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
These numbers on this table, yes, came from the document I just referred to.

830

MR. WHITE:
I have no reason to question those.

831

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And the second line of that table simply does a calculation between the total electricity generated in Ontario and the total transmission and distribution losses, which we just looked at, and by dividing those, we get a number of 7.5 percent. And if that calculation is correct, that would be the losses as a percentage of the total electricity generated in Ontario; is that fair?

832

MR. WHITE:
It appears to be, yes.

833

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Thank you. Now, I'd like to look at that 7.5 percent loss factor just in the context of coal‑fired electricity generation. If you turn back to page 54 of the Pollution Probe document handbook, which we looked at in a moment before, the first light bulb on the left shows that 24.6 percent of Ontario's electricity was produced from coal‑fired generation. Do you see that number?

834

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

835

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And do you have any reason to doubt the accuracy of that?

836

MR. WHITE:
No, I don't.

837

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And then flipping again to page 55, which is the table we just looked at, the third line uses the numbers we've just looked at to calculate the total coal‑fired electricity generation in Ontario by taking the 555.5 petaJoules we looked at earlier, and multiplying by the 24.6 percent we've just looked at, and gets a total of 136.7 petaJoules, being the total coal‑fired electricity generated in Ontario. Is that ‑‑ can you take that, subject to check of the calculations?

838

MR. WHITE:
Certainly.

839

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Then in the next line, I compare and put side by side the two figures of losses and coal‑fired generation. And when I divide 136.7 petaJoules by 41.4 petaJoules, being the losses, it appears that the losses are approximately 30 percent of the total coal‑fired electricity generation in Ontario. Is that fair?

840

MR. WHITE:
Yes, it's fair, and it's not surprising.

841

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. Thank you.

842

I'd then like to look at possible ways, in your view, that line losses can be reduced by an LDC.

843

MR. WHITE:
It's not just line losses, but okay.

844

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Losses.

845

MR. WHITE:
Distribution‑system losses.

846

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Yes. I'd like to toss up for your consideration a couple of methods or techniques, and see if you would agree with me that these are ways that an LDC can reduce those losses.

847

First of all ‑ and I think this connects to what you mentioned before ‑ it can increase voltage of distribution lines. Is that right?

848

MR. WHITE:
Generally speaking, that can contribute to reduced losses, yes.

849

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Right. A second possible way is that an LDC could purchase more energy‑efficient transformers; is that fair?

850

MR. WHITE:
True. Again, that would be a relatively small component of the losses, but they are a fixed loss, at least initially, even though they may have a variable component.

851

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. Would you agree with me that a third way would be for an LDC to encourage customers to shift some of their demand from peak to off‑peak periods?

852

MR. WHITE:
And that's consistent with my earlier comments about periods of highest load. The losses may be significantly above the average.

853

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Right.

854

MS. LEA:
Mr. White, we're beginning to lose you because you're facing the wrong way.

855

MR. WHITE:
I'm sorry.

856

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And a fourth possible way to reduce those losses relates to one thing you mentioned before, which is that the LDC could do what it can to reduce electricity theft. Is that fair?

857

MR. WHITE:
Yes, but theft is an incredibly small component of the losses and not accounted for in the electric distribution business, notwithstanding some of the big numbers that seem to come out periodically.

858

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And some of the headlines about grow operations.

859

MR. WHITE:
Absolutely. The good news is there aren't too many Molson's ‑‑ ex‑Molson's around to provide a venue for ‑‑ and, in fact, that place didn't even result in a theft of power, because that was a metered delivery point.

860

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Interesting, but probably not relevant to this hearing.

861

Would you agree with me that a fifth way an LDC could reduce losses would be to install capacitors at appropriate locations?

862

MR. WHITE:
Can I talk for a minute about capacitors? I would agree with you, generally, that it is a mechanic that can work. But most distribution engineers would agree that the best place, of all possible places, to put capacitors is associated with the port power factor equipment, so that they are switched when the equipment is switched on or off. Within a distribution system, capacitor banks are often considered a high‑risk component. And, by "high‑risk component," what I mean is, unlike other parts of the distribution system, when a capacitor bank is switched off, or removed from service, they remain energized for a significant period of time, and provide a potential hazard for workmen. This can be a real risk and, generally speaking, capacitor banks used to correct power factor on distribution systems are not a favorite thing for the linemen to see and they are ‑‑ they are not always kept in service to the extent they could.

863

The other aspect that's important to consider when you're looking at capacitor banks is the fact that, when a capacitor bank is put on to deal with a load situation, and corrects the power factor, then the voltage may be 130 volts, thereabouts, which is what I experience in Burlington on a regular basis. And when the load disappears, the voltage may go to 135 or 138 volts, causing customers to change light bulbs with a much higher degree of frequency than they otherwise would.

864

So capacitors that are not switched with the load are certainly a less favorable way to reduce losses, because, when the voltage increases, in fact, the losses increase ‑‑ that go with the actual power and energy that is delivered, in part, when the load is not there.

865

So yes, it generally reduces losses, and there are instances where the installation of capacitor banks at a transformer station on the transmission system are a very effective way of reducing system losses and improving power factor. Because, generally speaking, the load base is broad enough that it permits the load to be at a high enough level, even during the offpeak period, that it doesn't result in the high‑voltage risk situation that I've suggested.

866

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Would you ‑‑ thank you for that. I certainly understood a part of it.

867

MR. WHITE:
I apologize.

868

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
No, no. When I get my engineering degree, I'm sure I'll get it all.

869

But anyway, I gather from your evidence that another way ‑ in fact, a seventh way ‑ in which an LDC could reduce distribution losses would be to bill on the basis of kVAs. And, in fact, on page 3 of your evidence you refer to that yourself. Is that fair?

870

MR. WHITE:
And, in fact, we recognized that in the distribution rate handbook when we talked about price determinants in one of the sections of the handbook, where we recognize that kVA billing certainly puts the incentive directly where we talked about power‑factor correction being best achieved, which is at the customer level. And I understand from my good friend Mr. Snelson that, in fact, the things like residential air‑conditioning may have as low a power factor as 30 percent, which is not good when the normal is considered between 90 and 100.

871

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
I think you mentioned that Toronto Hydro uses that kVA billing.

872

MR. WHITE:
That's correct.

873

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Do you know of any other Ontario utilities that bill on that basis?

874

MR. WHITE:
The good news is that the rate handbook will permit utilities who have adequate metering in place to bill on 90 percent of kVA, or kW, the greater of. And, from that perspective, that was the practice of a lot of the utilities in Ontario under the previous regime.

875

One of the things that I am somewhat interested in, and a little concerned about, is I do not have the full technical information on the smart‑meter initiative and whether it will, in fact, be able to measure kVA on a going‑forward basis.

876

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay.

877

MR. WHITE:
So that remains a potential lost opportunity.

878

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Do you know, just to clarify that, whether, in fact, Toronto Hydro is the only one that uses kVA billing now?

879

MR. WHITE:
I think they're the only one that use it, universally.

880

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And others do partially?

881

MR. WHITE:
Others use the mechanism that I suggested, where they have metering in place, they bill at 90 percent of the kVA or kW, the greater the of the two.

882

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
In that case the incentive effect would begin to operate.

883

MR. WHITE:
Absolutely. The interesting thing about today's market is that that provides a disconnect between the delivery to the utility, which is measured on kW, and the delivery to the customer. So even though kVA produces losses, distributors don't get a direct pricing level associated with the losses.

884

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Then I saw what I think were references to several other ways that LDCs could reduce distribution losses, and for that I'd like you to turn to tab 10 of the Pollution Probe document book, which has an excerpt from Hydro One Networks CDM plan dated January 11, 2005. Do you see that?

885

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

886

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
If you could turn to the excerpted page, which is page 21 of that plan and page 79 of the document handbook, there's three bullet points. And the second one is called, "Feeder Phase Balancing System Configuration." Do you see that?

887

MR. WHITE:
Yes, and that could be a dynamic situation.

888

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. I'd like to refer you to the second sentence in that paragraph, because it appears to me that there's two more ways of reducing distribution losses in there. That sentence says:

889

"Preliminary studies indicate that, on average, overall feeder loss savings in the order of 10 to 15 percent could be achieved through measures such as balancing phases and optimizing open point locations between feeders."

890

Now, am I correct in understanding, and would you agree, that balancing phases is another way to cut distribution losses?

891

MR. WHITE:
I think it depends on the individual utilities and the particular configuration that you're dealing with.

892

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
But it could be?

893

MR. WHITE:
It certainly could be. Absolutely.

894

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
The next point, as I understand it, "optimizing open point locations between feeders," would be an additional way of reducing line losses potentially.

895

MR. WHITE:
And that, likewise, can be a dynamic environment where you're looking at switching load between delivery points, between major facilities, and it can reduce losses. There's some, if you will, potential disincentive from a customer perspective to do some of that, because it can result in increased retail transmission charges applying to the distributor which, in fact, flow through to end‑use customers. So that there can be an offset, in terms of price to the customers, it may not be an advantage there.

896

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay.

897

MR. WHITE:
Incidentally, as a general comment, I don't in any way disagree with utility reduction in losses, and in fact, I provided two very real alternatives which probably provide a stronger incentive for utilities to participate than an artificial apparent cap.

898

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. Well, just to ‑‑ in that context, I think, repeat what you mentioned earlier, which is that you agree that at present, line losses are a pass through item for Ontario's electricity utilities and, therefore, they have no direct financial incentive at all to reduce those distribution system line losses.

899

MR. WHITE:
That's partially true. There may be instances where there is an incentive, and that is where the utility can avoid capital investments by doing things like balancing and modifying normally open points. But as a general comment, there is no direct incentive. If you're talking about avoiding the construction of a transformer station, they're usually sufficient dollars to get somebody's attention at that point.

900

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Although generally, and I think on page 2 of 17 of your evidence, you say, "Status quo where losses remain a pass through with no direct incentive to the LDC to reduce losses."

901

MR. WHITE:
That's true. It's ‑‑ the incentive I referred to was an indirect incentive.

902

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
So it is correct, there is no direct incentive present.

903

MR. WHITE:
That's correct.

904

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. Thank you.

905

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Klippenstein, would this be a convenient time to take the afternoon break?

906

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Yes, that would be fine, Mr. Chair.

907

MR. KAISER:
15 minutes.

908

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:50 p.m.

909

‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:02 p.m.

910

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Klippenstein.

911

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Mr. White, if you could take Pollution Probe's cross‑examination book and turn to tab 8, which is the 2006 draft electricity distribution rate handbook.

912

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

913

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And it includes section 10.5, which you referred to earlier. Do you see that?

914

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

915

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And then there are two alternatives broken out, as you mentioned, that's at page 105 of the draft rate handbook, and page 60 of the Pollution Probe handbook. Do you see those there?

916

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

917

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And alternative one, which is the status quo method of the Board dealing with the line losses. Is that correct, so far?

918

MR. WHITE:
An updated status quo.

919

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And in that alternative one, status quo method, all distribution system losses cost variances would continue to be a passed through items; is that fair?

920

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

921

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And specifically, we see in that alternative one description, first of all, variances in loss volumes. That appears in the second line; is that right?

922

MR. WHITE:
I'm sorry?

923

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
We see in alternative one several types of distribution losses. One of them we see is loss volumes; right? That appears in the second line?

924

MR. WHITE:
That's correct.

925

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And we see a second type of distribution loss, which is variances in the electricity commodity cost; is that fair?

926

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

927

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And then according to that alternative 1, both those two types of distribution loss, namely the lost volumes and secondly the electricity commodity cost, will be recorded in a variance account and be passed through items. That's how they would be treated; right?

928

MR. WHITE:
That's correct.

929

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Now, could you tell me if you can explain at all to me how an LDC would calculate those two types of losses. In other words, how it calculates lost volumes, for example, for purposes of this variance account, and, secondly, how they calculate the electricity commodity cost variances, roughly speaking.

930

MR. WHITE:
The utilities are invoiced either by the IEMO or the host distributor for volumes and price of power and energy delivered to the distributor. The offset against that are the volumes created by the loss factors required in the ‑‑ as set out and provided for in the Retail Settlement Code times the volumes registered on the end‑use customers' meters, based on the ‑‑ and the dollars that come through are the dollars that ‑‑ my understanding is the dollars that flow through are the dollars that the customer is charged for the commodity in that time frame.

931

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And that's how they calculate or know what to record in the variance account for lost volumes and for electricity and commodity costs?

932

MR. WHITE:
It's a simple cost side, volume‑delivered side compared to a revenue side, volumes‑delivered to end‑use customers calculation.

933

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. Thank you, that's helpful. If I flip over to the second alternative now in the draft rate handbook, would you agree with the ‑‑ with me that in alternative 2, the key difference is that only electricity commodity cost variances would be passed through and not lost volumes. That's a difference between the two; is that right?

934

MR. WHITE:
My understanding is it would be changes in lost volumes that would not flow through.

935

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Yes.

936

MR. WHITE:
My understanding of how the calculation would be done, based on average cost, it's not completely clear what all the implications of that are. But I think it's probable that the price variance would be adjusted for but not on the volumes ‑‑ volume difference that it was created.

937

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
So the key difference there, generally speaking, is that, in alternative 2, electricity commodity cost variances would be a pass‑through item, but the volume losses would not.

938

MR. WHITE:
The volume, and the associated cost of those volumes.

939

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Right. So under this proposal, then, in alternative 2, using that variance idea, if a utility's actual physical losses were less than the forecast that were approved by the Board, then the profits of the LDC would rise.

940

MR. WHITE:
That assumes that the incremental cost of producing the forecasts, which this alternative would require, doesn't exceed the benefit that would flow from the losses, because this alternative 2 requires that a specific forecast be put in place, as opposed to the use of the historical year which the current handbook provides for.

941

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
So you're saying, actually preparing a forecast costs some money.

942

MR. WHITE:
Well, and depending upon people's ability to agree as to how it should be done, it can cost a lot of money.

943

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
But subject to that, the way alternative 2 would work is, if the utility's actual physical losses were less than forecast, then its profits would rise. That's the principle.

944

MR. WHITE:
That's correct, as I understand it.

945

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And the flip side of that, under alternative 2, is if the utility's actual physical losses were greater than the forecast, then its profits would fall.

946

MR. WHITE:
That's correct. And the tables, in fact, produced in my evidence give some indication of a cause‑and‑effect relationship that might flow from a change in the behaviour of one customer or a generator and what that impact might be on the utility's return.

947

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And one result of those principles that we just walked through was that, if alternative 2 were adopted by the OEB, the LDCs would have a direct financial incentive to reduce distribution losses.

948

MR. WHITE:
Right, which could mean they might try and find a way to subsidize a customer to keep them in business, if they were a low‑loss customer.

949

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Be that as it may, there would then be a direct financial incentive to reduce those losses.

950

MR. WHITE:
Absolutely.

951

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
However, I understand from your evidence that you are not in favour of alternative 2, as I understand it, because you believe that some of the factors that could increase a utility's losses are beyond that utility's control; is that fair, or not quite fair?

952

MR. WHITE:
No, I don't think that's totally fair, because I think my analysis is symmetrical, okay, and that why I'm opposed to it is that I don't think utilities should either win or lose on the basis of accident or behaviour beyond their control.

953

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
But if a utility, under alternative 2, had a direct financial incentive to reduce distribution losses, and, using one of those seven or eight techniques that we went through, it was able to do so, then it would be profiting from its own efforts; is that fair?

954

MR. WHITE:
That's correct. But the alternatives that I've suggested provide an opportunity for them to realize profit from their activities without fixing the particular volume of losses.

955

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Now, you do use a couple of examples in your evidence of scenarios that I think, you suggest, raise some concerns about alternative 2. And if I could ask you to turn to your evidence, on page 3, and that's at tab 9 of the Pollution Probe document book.

956

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

957

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
If I turn to page 3 of your evidence, which is page 63 of the document book, you note that a new ‑‑ a substantial new load placed at the end of the distribution line could well increase an LDC's distribution loss; is that right?

958

MR. WHITE:
That's correct. And also, a successful C&DM program close in to the delivery point, in a low‑loss situation, would produce a likewise adverse reaction, or response.

959

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
But ‑‑

960

MR. WHITE:
Because the average loss would go up.

961

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
As I understand it, the placement of a new large load at the end of the distribution line would, everything else being equal, potentially reduce the profits of the LDC, likely.

962

MR. WHITE:
If alternative 2 were adopted.

963

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. Now, I'm wondering if we have ‑‑

964

MR. WHITE:
It might also require changes in the distribution system code the way it's currently contemplated, because if the utility becomes exposed for loss risk, then when it is doing its economic evaluation on the connection of new customers, that can have implications that flow through that as well. It can be that it ‑‑ that the utility has to include adjustments which some might have difficulty understanding in the economic evaluation model that were done.

965

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Well, I'd like to explore with you the part of the handbook that may, in fact, go towards addressing the concern that we just talked about, namely, a large new load at the end of a line. And that's at tab 8, which is the draft handbook, page 104 of the handbook, under section 10.5. And there's two paragraphs that I'd just like to read to you, two short paragraphs, beginning with "The applicant," near the bottom of the page, which say:

966

"The applicant must file schedule 10‑5 to update its current loss adjustment factors, including class‑specific factors, that were established as part of its original rate unbundling process. The 2006 loss‑factor adjustments shall be based on a three‑year average (2002, 2003 and 2004).

967

"If the applicant determines that specific information warrants a departure from that average, for example, gain or loss of large customers, it must include in section 10‑5 a description of the change from the proposed methodology with a detailed explanation and justification for the variance."

968

Now, as I understand that, would you agree that this proposed wording of the draft rate handbook specifically allows an LDC to raise its loss adjustment factor if it expects to gain a large customer at the end of its distribution line. That's what that means; right?

969

MR. WHITE:
The result is that, in a significant number of cases, a utility does not have sufficient information to know whether they are going to experience the loss of a customer, or even the gain of a customer, as early as a year and a half in advance. And it's possible that, if you're talking about the loss of a customer, the customer may have a very specific set of good reasons to withhold their imminent demise from the utility, as well as other potential creditors.

970

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
But before we discuss that, you will agree that what we've read is a mechanism by which, in principle, the loss adjustment factor can be raised, if necessary, to accommodate that. That's possible in that wording; right?

971

MR. WHITE:
No, because it talks about ‑‑ it addresses the historical context only. It says what it will be based on historically, it doesn't say what the forecast will be based on. And what you're saying is the assumption is that the historical number would be used for forecast, and if the utility is going to do a full‑blown forecast, they wouldn't necessarily go down that road.

972

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Now, I confess I don't read it that way. It doesn't seem to me that the rate handbook wording is at all related to historical or backwards‑looking factors. So let me just go through that again and see if I may be correct on that.

973

MR. WHITE:
It says based on a three‑year average, 2002, 2003, and 2004.

974

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And if you read the next paragraph, it says that: "If the applicant determines that specific information warrants a departure, it can include an explanation and justification for the variance."

975

Now, I'm suggesting to you that that would allow an LDC who has notice that, for example, somebody is going to build a new load at the end of a distribution line, the LDC can put that into the Board with detailed explanation and justification for the variance and, therefore, avoid losses that it has no control over.

976

MR. WHITE:
You may have me at the advantage because it's quite possible that when I read the tier‑2 adjustments, which this ‑‑ I'm sorry, the tier‑1 adjustments, which this language parallels, it is the basis for the total revenue requirement and doesn't, in fact, contemplate an adjustment, other than to the three‑year average numbers. And when I read this and the way it's formatted, I read it in the same way. So that it would be ‑‑ if there would be an individual customer who adds something, that's one thing. If I'm doing a forecast, then that's totally different.

977

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Right. So as this appears here, if an LDC gets wind that ‑‑

978

MR. WHITE:
But if I were doing a forecast, I wouldn't worry about 2002 or 2003 or 2004, because I'd be doing a forecast based on what I thought the actual losses were going to be then. That's part of what makes it a lot more complicated a process.

979

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
But if you were aware that a new load was coming to the end of the distribution line, and if it was non‑trivial ‑‑

980

MR. WHITE:
Whether it was trivial or not, I'd have a duty to try and roll that into the forecast. That's part of what makes the forecasting process very complicated and, some would say, very expensive.

981

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
But if you have knowledge of it and you can include it in your forecast, then the LDC isn't damaged by that; correct?

982

MR. WHITE:
That's correct.

983

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And on the other hand, if it's not included in your forecast and you do get wind of it, that it's going to happen at the end of your distribution line, because it's not something that goes up over night, it takes a bit of time and everyone in town sort of knows it's coming, then if you haven't been able to include it in your forecast then here is an adjustment mechanism that means your LDC won't be penalized for something that it couldn't control.

984

MR. WHITE:
I'm sorry. So you're contemplating that this would be an after‑the‑fact adjustment? I don't understand that.

985

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
No, I'm saying, for example, when the LDC is filing for 2006 rates, which may be this summer, if it is aware of a future construction of something or other at the end of a distribution line, which may affect the system losses, it can include that variance request in its application and, therefore, not suffer from the concern you had. In other words, it won't be penalized for somebody else putting a load on the system.

986

MR. WHITE:
But it has to be aware of it at the time of its application.

987

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Right. But if it is aware of it, this allows it to be adjusted for; is that fair?

988

MR. WHITE:
It appears to be.

989

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And let's then look through some of your examples through that lens. And if I could turn to your evidence at tab 9 of the Pollution Probe document book.

990

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

991

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And you say at the beginning of the bottom paragraph.

992

MR. WHITE:
Which page?

993

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Of page 3 of 17, or page 63 of the document book: "Appendices 1 and 2 illustrate the potentially major impacts that the loss or gain of a major customer or the addition or loss of a merchant generator could reasonably be expected to have on an LDC."

994

And I'd like to just look at appendix 1, which is at page 10 of 17 of your evidence.

995

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir, I have it.

996

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Now, I take it this appendix 1 example is intended to suggest a situation where an LDC has a large customer addition to its distribution line and suffers additional system losses as a result, which it is then financially penalized for. Is that, generally speaking; right?

997

MR. WHITE:
I think it's ‑‑ the loss is what the scenario calculates.

998

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Right. And let's just go through it quickly, because I have a question about it.

999

MR. WHITE:
The loss of the customer as opposed to the addition of a new one? Because the impact on the percent of the shared ‑‑ the utility's equity is negative when it's a low‑loss customer that leaves the system and it's positive when it's a high‑loss customer that leaves the system. And this customer is a real customer of proportional size for this utility.

1000

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And what about appendix 2? Is that ‑‑ that's an additional ‑‑ that's an example of a load that is added; is that fair?

1001

MR. WHITE:
No, appendix 2 deals with a merchant generator.

1002

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Right.

1003

MR. WHITE:
Appendix 1 or appendix 2 would be symmetrical for the loss or gain.

1004

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Right.

1005

MR. WHITE:
The sign would change, but the appendix for the loss of customer shows with a negative sign.

1006

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. So it's symmetrical then.

1007

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

1008

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Now, the ‑‑

1009

MR. WHITE:
Would be symmetrical.

1010

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Yes. Now, what you've built into your example is that the total distribution volumes of the LDC are 31,000,000 kWh.

1011

MR. WHITE:
And that is the annual figure for a particular utility, subject to a bit of rounding.

1012

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And then you are assuming, on the fifth line, that the large customer example you've got consumes 4,150,000 kWh.

1013

MR. WHITE:
And that is a real customer of that specific utility, subject to rounding.

1014

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And that customer, then, is responsible for pulling 13.4 percent of the LDC's load; is that fair?

1015

MR. WHITE:
Looks to me like it's pretty close to that.

1016

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And would you agree with me that it's reasonable to assume that when the LDC is preparing its 2006 rates application, it will be aware, for example, of a new customer that's going to increase its load by 13.4 percent?

1017

MR. WHITE:
But it may not be aware of the loss of the customer.

1018

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
But, for example, if it's an increase, it would very likely be aware of that, wouldn't it?

1019

MR. WHITE:
Actually, because of the scale of this utility, that's not necessarily the case. There are often cases where you are dealing with smaller utilities, where an individual customer of this size, who is really not that big, could be enticed to locate in a particular community, and show up asking for power as early as in a couple of months and could readily be supplied in that time line, if it were on an existing distribution‑system line.

1020

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Well, first of all, will you agree with me that, if a customer shows up in a small situation, say, a small town that you mentioned, and is big enough to be adding fully 13 and a half or so percent of the load, that is a pretty sizeable addition in that context, and it's not likely that that's going to happen without everybody being pretty aware of it, pretty early in the process.

1021

MR. WHITE:
No, that's not the case at all. That's not my experience in over 35 years dealing with small‑ and medium‑sized utilities.

1022

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Now, would you agree with me that once the new load itself has an intention, and begins any step to add that load in that context, the word will get around and awareness will get around very quickly?

1023

MR. WHITE:
Absolutely.

1024

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
That's true; right?

1025

MR. WHITE:
Yes ‑‑

1026

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
As soon as ‑‑

1027

MR. WHITE:
‑‑ once it's prepared to make it public.

1028

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Well, public, but also make any kind of non‑public move, word gets around, because that's a very large percentage of the local load; right?

1029

MR. WHITE:
Yeah, but it's a relatively small load.

1030

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
But, in the context it's very big. And in a small town, you can't increase ‑‑ nobody can come in with an intention to increase the load by 13.4 percent and keep it secret from the people who ‑‑ to whom it matters very long.

1031

MR. WHITE:
If the customer is a megawatt. And is a megawatt going to make a difference on a distribution system for this utility? The answer is no. You know, the capacity is there to supply an additional megawatt with no problem at all. Happily, they're connected to a honey transformer station not very far from the utility boundary, with surplus capacity. They had a major adjacent load shut‑down 40 years ago. There is existing standing housing stock. You know, this is a community that can readily accommodate a 1‑megawatt load. There are thousands of 1‑megawatt loads in the province of Ontario.

1032

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And do you ‑‑ are you suggesting that, for example, in the 2006 filing, let's say, in the summer, that, even if there is excess capacity, or available capacity, the LDC is unlikely to get some significant knowledge of that, so that the LDC can't include that in its filing for this summer?

1033

MR. WHITE:
I think there is, at the very least, a 50/50 chance that they would not be aware of it. And, based on my experience in dealing with smaller utilities, I would often get a call that somebody is looking for supply of 1 or 2 megawatts, or as many as 3 megawatts, and they're looking for it in two months. And that's been my experience in dealing with utilities, and the way many industries operate. Now, they may get three phone calls with that kind of time line, and one of them may actually materialize. So they don't rush out and buy transformers until they have reason to believe that it's likely to happen.

1034

Like, I dealt with 12 utilities in the Niagara peninsula and that was a fairly common situation that would happen.

1035

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. Well, let's look at your second example, which is in appendix 2.

1036

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

1037

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
That is ‑‑ one moment while I find it in your materials. That's at page 12 of 17, and at page 72 of the Pollution Probe document book.

1038

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir, I have it.

1039

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And you are using an example of an additional merchant generator. And your assumption is that it would be operating at 100 percent of the time; is that right?

1040

MR. WHITE:
I've used three examples. I've used 100 percent of the time, 80 percent of the time, and 50 percent of the time ‑‑

1041

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Right.

1042

MR. WHITE:
‑‑ for illustration purposes, because they're not always as predictable as some of the optimists feel they might be.

1043

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
All right. Well, let's just ‑‑ to use one of the examples that you've put forward for us here, the generator that operates 100 percent of the time; right?

1044

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

1045

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Now, that generator would ‑‑ operates every hour of the year, which would mean 8,760 hours.

1046

MR. WHITE:
That's correct.

1047

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
So far so good?

1048

MR. WHITE:
Unless it's a leap year.

1049

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
I hadn't thought of that. But that one aside ‑‑

1050

MR. WHITE:
I've been in this business a long time. We have to think about all kinds of things.

1051

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And how much difference does it make in a leap year?

1052

MR. WHITE:
It's about 3 percent.

1053

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Okay. But, taking a standard year of 8,760 times 1,000 kilowatts per ‑‑

1054

MR. WHITE:
Capacity.

1055

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
‑‑ capacity, that's a total of 8.76 million kilowatt‑hours per year for that example. Is that right?

1056

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

1057

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
And, therefore, that generator would be responsible for pulling about 28 percent of the LDC's load; is that right?

1058

MR. WHITE:
That's correct.

1059

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Now ‑‑

1060

MR. WHITE:
If it was able to operate that way.

1061

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
Right. Now, just, again, using that example, would you agree with me that a large proportion of the time, and especially in a generator example, an LDC preparing its 2006 rate application would be aware of a new generator that's being proposed that would increase its load by 28 percent in 2006?

1062

MR. WHITE:
I think the addition of a new generator ‑‑ you're absolutely right. Because the lag time required to accommodate a generator is much more significant than the time period required to accommodate a load. There are all kinds of implications associated with generators that are not ‑‑ from a technical perspective, that are not consistent with a load, which is either there or not. Interconnection facility, special protection considerations, those kinds of things are things that increase the lag time from the point of notice because of the skills and expertise that have to be brought to the process to make sure that the generation facility is safely connected.

1063

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:
All right. Thank you very much, Mr. White.

1064

I believe those are all my questions. And thank you, Mr. Chair, and Members of the Panel.

1065

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

1066

Mr. Shepherd?

1067

MR. SHEPHERD:
Mr. Chairman, I have no questions.

1068

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Poch?

1069

MR. POCH:
Yes, Mr. Chairman, I have, oh, probably, about 20 minutes.

1070

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. POCH:

1071

MR. POCH:
Mr. White, first of all, just to recapture a few points I think you've already made. Losses on the system are greater at peak times?

1072

MR. WHITE:
Absolutely.

1073

MR. POCH:
And, generally, for those losses, the dynamic losses, they go up with the square of the ‑‑ the loading of the lines is square of the current?

1074

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

1075

MR. POCH:
So it's exponential?

1076

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

1077

MR. POCH:
And loss reduction is also worth ‑‑ generally, worth more at peak times because commodity costs tend to be higher at peak times?

1078

MR. WHITE:
Absolutely.

1079

MR. POCH:
And, when you reduce losses on the distribution system, you pretty well automatically reduce them on the transmission system, simultaneously, to the extent that you're not drawing that power through the transmission system anymore?

1080

MR. WHITE:
That's correct.

1081

MR. POCH:
All right. Now, with respect to loss reduction that occurs by efforts made on the customer side of the meter, those are going to be ‑‑ naturally, be dealt with as part of demand‑side management C&DM conservation. And there is a separate incentive being proposed for that; correct?

1082

MR. WHITE:
That's my understanding.

1083

MR. POCH:
All right. And so what we're really talking about here is just what the incentives are facing the utility for loss reduction on its side of the meter within the distribution system.

1084

MR. WHITE:
That's correct.

1085

MR. POCH:
All right. And I think probably everybody agrees it's healthy for them to have an incentive to reduce losses. I take it you agree with that.

1086

MR. WHITE:
Yes, sir.

1087

MR. POCH:
And the challenge, then, is to come up with an effective set of without needless risk or regulatory burden; is that fair?

1088

MR. WHITE:
That would be my hope.

1089

MR. POCH:
Now, loss reduction, distribution loss reduction is not a new activity for LDCs.

1090

MR. WHITE:
No, in fact, it's part of the normal practice of developing a distribution system that works and is reliable.

1091

MR. POCH:
So apart from concern in the last few years in particular about cost recovery and the ability to adjust rate base on a timely basis, it's an activity that conforms to the engineering ethic of the corporate culture of the LDCs; is that fair? There wouldn't be ‑‑ the problem arises because of this ‑‑ of late or is more ‑‑ of greater concern of late because of amplified concern about cost recovery and adjusting rate base.

1092

MR. WHITE:
That's at least partially correct, and for the part where it wouldn't be correct would be the case where you had a cash‑starved utility which was making less than perfect engineering decisions because of other, whether they would be statutory duties to supply, or other cash demands on the corporation.

1093

MR. POCH:
Fair enough. And perhaps no incentive is going to help a utility if it doesn't have the cash to chase the cheese, eh?

1094

MR. WHITE:
I wouldn't necessarily say that. Sometimes bankers, if they can see dollars flow behind a particular activity, they will be more inclined to make the money available to the distribution utility.

1095

MR. POCH:
All right. Apart from this problem of assurance that it's going to ‑‑ these efforts are going to be funded in a timely basis, leaving that aside, it's fair to say that loss reduction efforts don't face the same difficult ‑‑ we don't have the same difficulty encouraging the utility to do it as we would, for example, for conservation activities, absent an incentive, because there's no ‑‑ we don't have the problems of things like erosion of revenue; is that fair?

1096

MR. WHITE:
Certainly on the loss side, you're absolutely right under the current rules.

1097

MR. POCH:
Now, some loss reduction activities, like reconfiguring feeders, might be a pure expense item. But is it fair to say that most, if not many or many, if not most, loss reduction activities would involve investment of capital?

1098

MR. WHITE:
Yes, and it's really interesting when you look at the rearranging of feeders that you've mentioned. Even though it results in the expense, an operating expense type item, it's often to avoid a capital cost. So it certainly is capital related.

1099

MR. POCH:
Okay. Now, the fact that LDCs, at least in theory, can at some point earn a return on a capital investment is another distinction between distribution loss reduction efforts and typical customer‑side conservation programs; is that fair?

1100

MR. WHITE:
Correct.

1101

MR. POCH:
So do we agree, then, that the problem we need to solve in this case is the uncertainty and delay in earning that return, as well as the adequacy of budget for non‑capital loss reduction expenses, a lesser concern?

1102

MR. WHITE:
Yes, and I think I would go even farther. That it is potential uncertainty that makes most of my clients at least somewhat nervous about C&DM initiatives.

1103

MR. POCH:
Fair enough. Now with respect to the current as expense aspect of loss reduction, this has always been an LDC activity. So presumably there's something in the base in 1998, they were doing this sort of thing, there was something in rates already for it. And what we really need to focus on here, is it fair to say, is added or extraordinary programs which would not already be built into rates.

1104

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

1105

MR. POCH:
Now, it's been pointed to a number of times, on page 9 of your evidence, you offer four ‑‑ you look at four alternatives. And under alternative 4, you say, I quote: "Accelerated recognition of loss reductions, investments in the rate base is a reasonable alternative."

1106

MR. WHITE:
And it produces the lowest regulatory risk.

1107

MR. POCH:
Right. So first of all, can we agree that's a much simpler alternative than the other one you find acceptable, which is a TRC‑based incentive.

1108

MR. WHITE:
If we can find a way to readily pass it through in the rates, it certainly seems simple.

1109

MR. POCH:
All right. Now, I'm going to paraphrase what Mr. Chernick has to offer as a suggestion, and then I'm going to ask for your comment. And to summarize, Mr. Chernick, who discusses this at page 13 of his evidence, he implies that the problem has been the uncertainty and long delay that the LDCs have faced in being able to add loss reduction investments into rate base. He suggests that regular opportunities to rebase would address the issue for capital investments. He adds that it may be appropriate for it to allow utilities to earn a return in a deferral account if rebasing is delayed, and he suggests that for large, non‑capital expenditures, it may be appropriate to allow the utility to defer these expenses in a variance account or to receive the benefit of the loss reduction while awaiting a rate change.

1110

So I want to ask you how close Mr. Chernick's prescription comes to the alternative you've indicated you would find acceptable, being accelerated recognition?

1111

MR. WHITE:
It certainly is closer than alternative 2 that I've examined, and I guess there may be ways to fine‑tune some of the specific suggestions he makes that would make the system work even easier. The notion of potentially allowing the, say, the short‑run incremental return to flow into the variance account associated with losses might be a way to deal with it so that it is a clear account that is going to be cleared when the ‑‑ when that particular account is cleared. And the only comment I would put on that is I'm sure, like many of my clients, I shudder at variance and deferral accounts as we go through some of the processes we have to go through, but there might be an easy way to make that work. And moving that incremental return to the variance account would terminate, of course, once any rebasing happened.

1112

MR. POCH:
Yes.

1113

MR. WHITE:
So it would be a way of accelerating that process.

1114

MR. POCH:
I just want to be clear. Mr. Klippenstein pointed out how the system losses overall amount to a number that is comparable to about 30 percent of the coal generation, at least it was in 2002. In fact, for the reasons we've spoken of, that is that losses go up, the dynamic losses go up with the square of the loading. It may even be worse than that, would you agree, because we tend to be burning coal on the peak times, which is when losses are greatest?

1115

MR. WHITE:
Yes, and I think if you think about the gas industry, it would be like saying gas is available at the Ontario border from the TransCanada PipeLine system. All the customers have to do is breathe in hard enough to draw the gas into their furnaces. You know, electricity relies on the push of the delivery of the product and the energy that's consumed as part of that transportation activity to get it there.

1116

MR. POCH:
And to use the water analogy, when the hose is fuller it's harder to push.

1117

MR. WHITE:
Absolutely.

1118

MR. POCH:
So there's more loss. So that being the case, it seems vital that the incentive for the utilities to invest in loss reduction is adequate. And so I would ask you again, if you can look at Mr. Chernick's proposal, is there anything further that would need to be done to ensure, from your experience working with utilities, that it would, in fact, be adequate to get them to do whatever is cost effective on this front?

1119

MR. WHITE:
I'm not sure that the installation of capacitors are going to be fully embraced by utilities, because there is a cultural concern about the safety associated with the capacitors which are imbedded in the distribution system. Like I said, the transformer station is a more likely candidate for those kind of activities.

1120

MR. POCH:
But apart from that particular example where you've indicated there are some other concerns with respect to safety that might interfere ‑ and it may be perfectly legitimate that they interfere ‑ is Mr. Chernick's proposal, in your view, adequate?

1121

MR. WHITE:
I already put one caveat on it, and with that caveat being the cash‑strapped animal, I would agree that it's probably adequate.

1122

MR. POCH:
All right. And just one point of clarification with respect to the second alternative in the handbook that Mr. Klippenstein was talking to you about. You've indicated your concern about it, which is that there may be some ‑‑ there are items out of control of the utility; they could face either a reward or a penalty that they hadn't directly influenced.

1123

MR. WHITE:
It's sort of like rolling the dice instead of doing the job.

1124

MR. POCH:
I understand your concern. But leaving that aside, you'd agree that, even faced with that problem, that would provide a strong incentive for the utilities to manage. So one of these ‑‑ both of these alternatives will provide a strong incentive; is that fair?

1125

MR. WHITE:
That's correct. And to the extent that we don't apply a fatal blow to a small utility, it would certainly provide an incentive if they survived.

1126

MR. POCH:
I'll ask the same question: Would it be a strong enough incentive to get the job done?

1127

MR. WHITE:
I think the risk around it may make it a less good incentive than early recognition of the capital investments.

1128

MR. POCH:
Well, no, I understand your concern about the risk. But the ‑‑ in terms of the behaviour of the utility, I take it the incentive would be, in your opinion, strong enough to get the job done? They may not like the uncertainty that comes with it, but that wouldn't diminish the incentive.

1129

MR. WHITE:
To the extent that the utility is experiencing the addition of high‑loss customers, there would be a much greater incentive if they were experiencing the reduction ‑‑ the loss of low‑loss customers, then, because of maybe a cultural mentality that says, Where was I last year, and am I going to be worse off or better off this year. It may depend on other factors in the utility whether it's going to provide an incentive or not.

1130

MR. POCH:
So do I understand your comment to really ‑‑ if I can rephrase it for you, that their vision of the incentives may get a little clouded by this overlaying factor; is that what you're saying?

1131

MR. WHITE:
I'm saying that if I ‑‑ even if I ‑‑ if I, as a utility manager, am going to my board and I say, Look, I've got an option of spending some dollars for loss reduction, but losses are going to reduce themselves because we're adding a whole whack of load and it's all low‑loss load; so we can defer spending the dollars on loss reduction because there's a fixed loss component in anyway, and we'll wait until we really need it to, sort of, salvage our hides, and we'll do the loss reduction program later on.

1132

MR. POCH:
Well, that would be, in effect, saying, Let's ignore this incentive because we may ‑‑

1133

MR. WHITE:
We may need it more later.

1134

MR. POCH:
‑‑ we may need it more later. And that could be true for any number of cash‑flow reasons within the utility.

1135

MR. WHITE:
Absolutely.

1136

MR. POCH:
All right.

1137

Thank you. Those are my questions.

1138

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

1139

Mr. Rogers?

1140

MR. ROGERS:
No, thank you, sir.

1141

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Millar?

1142

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

1143

MR. MILLAR:
If I could just have one moment, Mr. Chair.

1144

Just a couple of quick questions. As I understand your opposition to alternative 2, as you've set out in your evidence, I guess it's a couple of things, in your report on page 19, you say, for alternative 2, "this should not be considered as it materially increases the risk to the distribution company." But in fairness to you, I think you also said in your evidence that you also think it would be unfair for them to realize a gain through this, as so many issues related to the loss factor aren't really within their control; is that accurate?

1145

MR. WHITE:
Yes, it's the notion, as I characterized it, as rolling the dice. I'd like ‑‑ most of my clients are delighted to work hard to earn a fair return and do the job. But the notion that somewhere the dice are being rolled and the tables may be stacked against them produces in them a sense of unfairness, as it does in myself.

1146

MR. MILLAR:
Okay. So it's not necessarily the fact that they stand to lose here, it's that it's unfair. You're rolling the dice, as you say.

1147

MR. WHITE:
Well, it's unfair either to the utility or the customer, if it's an accident. Somebody pays.

1148

MR. MILLAR:
I presume that's why, for you, alternative 1 or the status quo, it seems to be, is your preferable option?

1149

MR. WHITE:
That's correct, of the two options that are in the rate handbook.

1150

MR. MILLAR:
Okay. Well, if we look at your report, you also have an alternative 3 and alternative 4. Alternative 3 is a shared‑savings mechanism, an SSM. My question for you is: The shared‑savings mechanism has the potential to provide a benefit to the utility; however, it doesn't have a corresponding penalty if they don't succeed. Is that accurate?

1151

MR. WHITE:
My view is that ‑‑ is that what would happen on a shared‑savings mechanism is it would be independent of what actually happened on the loss side, but it would be a shared‑savings mechanism based on particular activities which can be calculated to produce a loss reduction, which benefits the customers in the long run in terms of a lower loss factor on their bills and requires an investment or the incurring of cost by the utility.

1152

MR. MILLAR:
I see. So it would be, sort of, a ‑‑ and correct me if my terminology is wrong, but it would be done on a TRC test rather than the actual results?

1153

MR. WHITE:
Or some more ‑‑ what might be, to some, a more acceptable test, such as a RIM test.

1154

MR. MILLAR:
Okay. So you wouldn't necessarily look at the actual reduction or, perhaps, increase in loss.

1155

MR. WHITE:
And by "RIM test," I mean rate impact model test. Sorry.

1156

MR. MILLAR:
That's all right.

1157

Those are my questions. Thank you.

1158

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Millar.

1159

Mr. Stevens, any re‑exam?

1160

MR. STEVENS:
No, thank you, Mr. Chair.

1161

QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

1162

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Mr. White, just to fill this out in my own mind, we talked about the forecast and the difficulty that a utility may face in predicting or having knowledge of an additional load in its service territory. What is the impact with respect to alternative 2 if the utility anticipates that a significant ‑‑ for its operation, a significant new load is anticipated, but that's not realized, you know, the project fails or the project is cut in half or there's ‑‑

1163

MR. WHITE:
Or it goes somewhere else, which is often the case.

1164

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Exactly. What are the implications in those circumstances?

1165

MR. WHITE:
To the extent that it resulted in reduced losses, if the losses were not reduced because the customer didn't appear and the rate submission had gone through and been approved before this knowledge was available, then it would be like the ‑‑ like the loss of a low‑loss customer they already had; in other words, it would adversely impact on the utility.

1166

If it was a low‑loss customer, and it didn't materialize, then it would be to the benefit of the utility. That's my understanding.

1167

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Thank you.

1168

MS. CHAPLIN:
Following on from that a little bit, you are making the point that this alternative 2 is unfair because the variances may be beyond the control of the utility in that given period.

1169

MR. WHITE:
Are largely beyond the control.

1170

MS. CHAPLIN:
Is it ‑‑

1171

MR. WHITE:
Certainly in the short run.

1172

MS. CHAPLIN:
In the short run. Correct me if I am wrong, but isn't it the case that any of the forecast items upon which rates have to be built are going to be subject to some variance that is beyond the utility's control?

1173

MR. WHITE:
That's true, but in the distribution rate handbook, the notion is that the utility's return will be based on a historical test year as opposed to a forecast test year. So what's being added by alternative 2 is the requirement for a forecast as opposed to the use of a historical model, which is quite different. And one of the interesting things is that we can argue about history, but only for a relatively short period of time. We can argue about the future in a very expensive way for a long time, in terms of forecasting what the realities of the utility situation will be. That's part of the reason why the future test year is considered more expensive or more onerous for most small‑ and medium‑sized distributors.

1174

MS. CHAPLIN:
But would you have the same objections if the loss factor was based on history but the LDC was still at risk for variances?

1175

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

1176

MS. CHAPLIN:
Okay. So I guess my point is still the same, that in some respects, the utility is expected to bear risk that its actual experience will be different than the forecast, or different than what is underlying rates, but in this instance you take the view that that's not appropriate. So I'm just trying to understand the difference.

1177

MR. WHITE:
Under the existing regime, you can argue that the loss factor is not a rate at all, it's a pass‑through of what's required to get the power and energy to the customer in the same way that retail transmission rates are a pass‑through of what's required to get the power and energy to the border of the utility. So in fact, it's possible that the adjustment to loss factor, even though it's a retail or a distributor‑type adjustment, it's possible that, at a concept level, it doesn't even belong in the rate handbook.

1178

MS. CHAPLIN:
Okay. Thank you.

1179

MR. KAISER:
Mr. White, in your evidence, you indicated there was a range in these losses. I think you said from 2 percent to just under 10 percent.

1180

MR. WHITE:
I think it was 3 to under 10, yes.

1181

MR. KAISER:
And in your experience, you mentioned that you had some experience with these 13 utilities down in Niagara. Is the different results a function of the fact that some pay less attention to this than others, or is it just the nature of their distribution system?

1182

MR. WHITE:
Some of the difference, like the higher ones that I'm referring to, are largely embedded distributors, and they pay a line‑loss adjustment that flows to the host distributor which, for most of them, would be Hydro One Networks, and that is about 2.8 percent. So that accounts for 2.8 percent of their losses, and it's because they're farther ‑‑ conceptually because they're farther from the transformer station and the power and energy has to flow a longer distance to reach those communities.

1183

Most of the LDCs, or local distribution companies, that have a transformer station located within their boundaries will have loss factors, even the older ones with lower voltages and older equipment will have loss factors that would be maybe as high as 6 percent. So it isn't that they don't care, it's that some of the rules that have been put in place as part of the process assess loss factors which apply to embedded distributors.

1184

MR. KAISER:
Now, in your alternative 4, which is accelerated recognition of loss reduction investments that would go into the rate base earlier and they would have, therefore, an incentive. Mr. Klippenstein took us through a number of 8, or 9, or 10 different things that utilities can do. If a utility makes an investment in certain of these areas capital investment, because that's what you were talking about, whether it's capacitors or whatever it is, can it be assumed that a benefit will follow?

1185

MR. WHITE:
There will ‑‑ if proper engineering practices are applied, the relative benefit will be calculable. In other words, it doesn't mean that the losses will go down if they enter a loss‑reduction program if something else somewhere in the system causes them to go up.

1186

MR. KAISER:
No, I understand ‑‑

1187

MR. WHITE:
But you will be able to actually determine that the losses have gone down if they do it.

1188

MR. KAISER:
I understand there can be offsets and whatnot, but there's nothing we can do about that. But can it be said in this engineering world that if a utility was encouraged to invest in X, whatever X is, we can be reasonably certain that it will have a positive effect?

1189

MR. WHITE:
If they do X, then you can reasonably be assured that the benefit will flow.

1190

MR. KAISER:
All right. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. White.

1191

Mr. Millar, we're adjourned until Tuesday at 9:00?

1192

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


1193

MR. MILLAR:
Yes, I just had a couple of administrative annoucements, Mr. Chair. We are adjourned until February 1st ‑ we're not sitting on Monday ‑ and as a reminder, on February 1st, we are beginning at 9:00 a.m., rather than 9:30, and we will be adjourning at 2:00 p.m. on that day. And the first witness, since we're finished with Mr. White, will be Mr. Goulding, who is Board Staff's C&DM witness.

1194

‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:05 p.m.

